AGREEMENT BETWEEN:



THE CITY OF WHITEHORSE

AND



INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE-FIGHTERS, LOCAL 2217

JANUARY 1, 2014 TO DECEMBER 31, 2021

(new items are highlighted in grey)

Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS		
ARTICLE 1:	APPLICATION	1
ARTICLE 2:	INTERPRETATION	
ARTICLE 3:	MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	
ARTICLE 4:	UNION RECOGNITION	
	UNION MEMBERSHIP	
ARTICLE 5:	DEDUCTION OF UNION DUES	
ARTICLE 6:		
ARTICLE 7:	APPOINTMENT OF REPRESENTATIVES	
ARTICLE 8:	LEAVE FOR REPRESENTATIVES	
ARTICLE 9:	HOURS OF WORK	2
ARTICLE 10:	OVERTIME	
	ANCE	
	REMUNERATION	
	y Period – New Hires	
	– PROMOTIONS AND LATERAL TRANSFERS	
	CATIONS	
	PROMOTION	
	BONUS	
	AY	
ARTICLE 12:	STAFFING	10
ARTICLE 13:	STATUTORY HOLIDAYS	1
ARTICLE 14:	VACATION LEAVE	12
	LEAVE	
	EAVE	
ARTICLE 15:	ILLNESS	
	TONAL ILLNESS OR ACCIDENT	
ILLNESS IN THE IMMEDIATE FAMILY		
Wage Indemnity10		

	DISABILITY	
	LEAVE OF ABSENCE	
	T Leave	
	AVE	
	ION LEAVE	
	JTY LEAVE	
	UT PAY	
	EAVE	
	NTAL/ADOPTION LEAVE	
ARTICLE 17:	GROUP INSURANCE	20
ARTICLE 18:	MEDICAL AND DENTAL BENEFITS	21
ARTICLE 19:	REGISTERED RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN	21
ARTICLE 20:	EMPLOYMENT BEYOND AGE 60	21
ARTICLE 21:	GENERAL PROVISIONS	22
PREVAILING R	IGHTS	22
	DING ALLOWANCE	
ARTICLE 22:	MEDICAL EXAMINATIONS	22
ARTICLE 23:	LEGAL REPRESENTATION	23
ARTICLE 24:	TECHNOLOGICAL/ORGANISATIONAL CHANGE	23
ARTICLE 25:	DISCIPLINE	23
ARTICLE 26:	UNIFORMS AND EQUIPMENT	24
UNIFORM CLE	ANING	24
UNIFORM KIT		24
FIRE-FIGHTER	PERSONAL PROTECTIVE EQUIPMENT ISSUE	24
ARTICLE 27:	SAFETY PROVISIONS	24
ARTICLE 27:	SAFETT PROVISIONS	
ARTICLE 28:	SENIORITY/LAYOFF/RECALL	25
LAYOFF/RECA	LL	26
ARTICLE 29:	SEVERANCE PAY	26
ARTICLE 30:	JOINT CONSULTATION COMMITTEE	27
ARTICLE 31:	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	27
ARTICLE 32:	FUNERAL COSTS	30
ARTICLE 33:	ROLE OF THE VOLUNTEER/AUXILIARY FIRE-FIGHTERS	30
ARTICLE 34:	CONTRACTING OUT	30

Collective Agreement

ARTICLE 35: PROFESSIONAL FEES
ARTICLE 36: SAVINGS CLAUSE
ARTICLE 37: CONTRACT NEGOTIATIONS
ARTICLE 38: DURATION
SUMMARY OF MONETARY INCREASES
SCHEDULE "A" - SALARY SCHEDULES
SCHEDULE "B" - UNIFORMS
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING # 1
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING # 2
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING # 3II
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING # 4
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING # 5
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #6VI
LETTER OF UNDERSTANDING #7VII

THIS AGREEMENT entered into this 24th day of November, A.D. 2014.

BETWEEN: THE CITY OF WHITEHORSE

Whitehorse, Yukon Territory

(hereinafter called "the Employer")

PARTY OF THE FIRST PART

AND: THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE-FIGHTERS,

LOCAL 2217

(hereinafter called "the Union")

PARTY OF THE SECOND PART

WHEREAS the parties hereto have agreed to enter into these presents to define more effectually the duties, privileges, working conditions and remuneration of the employees;

NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES that the parties hereto hereby agree each with the other as follows:

ARTICLE 1: APPLICATION

- 1.02 The provisions of this agreement and appendices attached hereto and forming part of this agreement shall apply to all employees of the Fire Department with the exception of the Fire Chief.
- 1.02 The provisions of this agreement shall not apply to casual or volunteer fire-fighters except as hereinafter expressly provided.

ARTICLE 2: INTERPRETATION

- 2.01 In this agreement:
 - (a) "Business Agent" means a person designated by Local 2217, International Association of Fire-fighters.
 - (b) "Captain" means a person in the Captain position as described in the City of Whitehorse Position Description as amended from time to time.
 - (c) Casual Employee" means an employee who is employed on an irregular and/or unscheduled basis, and who is hired when it is anticipated that the requirement for such an employee will be for a minimum of one shift and a maximum of 60 consecutive shifts. It is agreed that such employees shall at a minimum, have achieved the eligibility qualifications required for full-time firefighter status, maintain current status for volunteer eligibility and have successfully completed casual firefighter training.

In exceptional or unusual circumstances, a casual employee's term of employment may be extended beyond the sixty-shift maximum, with the term of such extension to be mutually agreed upon by the Employer and the Union.

The parties shall agree to an eligibility list of Casual Employees which

- may, by agreement include firefighters not meeting the minimum qualifications as noted above.
- (d) "Chief Training Officer" means a person in the Chief Training Officer position as described in the City of Whitehorse Position Description as amended from time to time.
- (e) "City Manager" means the City Manager for the City of Whitehorse.
- (f) "Continuous service" means uninterrupted employment with the Employer.
- (g) "Dispatcher" means a person in the Dispatcher position as described in the City of Whitehorse Position Description as amended from time to time.
- (h) "Employee", "permanent employee" and "permanent full time employee" shall mean a person who has been employed in accordance with section 2.01(j) and/or (m) of this agreement as defined for specific purposes unless otherwise specified.
- (i) "Fire Chief" means the Fire Chief position as described in the City of Whitehorse Position Description as amended from time to time.
- (j) "Fire-fighter" means a person in the fire-fighter position as described in the City of Whitehorse Position Description as amended from time to time. For the purposes of this agreement fire-fighter may also mean Captain or Platoon Chief.
- (k) Fire Prevention Officer" means a person in the Fire Prevention Officer position as described in the City of Whitehorse Position Description as amended from time to time.
- (I) "May" will be regarded as permissive.
- (m) "Permanent Employee" means any Employee who has successfully completed the probationary requirement of a position and who has been assigned to a position within the permanent establishment of the Employer as determined by the Employer.
- (n) "Platoon Chief" means a person in the Platoon Chief position as described in the City of Whitehorse Position Description as amended from time to time.
- (o) "Probationary Employee" means any employee in the process of filling the initial or promotional probationary period as defined in sections 11.02. and 11.11.
- (p) "Rookie" means a person who has been hired at or below the entry level of the Firefighter salary range until he is promoted to 4th Class.
- (q) "Shall" will be regarded as imperative.
- (r) "Shop Steward" means a person appointed to that position by Local 2217, International Association of Fire-fighters
- (s) "Volunteer" means a person who provides fire-fighting services to the City of Whitehorse Fire Department on a voluntary basis. The position may receive a stipend for services rendered as determined by resolution of Council.
- (t) "Will" shall be regarded as imperative.
- (u) For the purpose of calculating holidays, sick leave, and biweekly pay, a standard shift shall be twelve (12) hours for probationary and permanent staff who work a forty-two (42) hour week on a rotating shift schedule.

Page 2 2014 – 2021

- (v) "Deputy Fire Chief" means the Deputy Fire Chief position as described in the City of Whitehorse Position Description as amended from time to time.
- (w) Association Officials "Association Officials" mean those members of Local 2217 elected or appointed to one of the normal association positions such as the Executive, Shop Stewards and, City of Whitehorse Safety Committee Representative.

ARTICLE 3: MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

3.01 The management and control of the Employer's business and the direction and control of the Employer's work force are vested exclusively in the Employer subject only to the limitations imposed upon the Employer by the provisions of this agreement. The Employer shall retain all the customary rights responsibilities, functions and prerogatives of management, except as expressly modified or restricted by a specific provision of this agreement.

ARTICLE 4: UNION RECOGNITION

4.01 In accordance with the Certificate of Bargaining Authority issued by the Canada Industrial Relations Board (C.I.R.B.) on July 31, 1973, the Employer acknowledges that employees who are subject to the provisions of this agreement have selected the Local 2217 International Association of Fire-fighters as their sole and exclusive bargaining agent. The employer recognizes the Union as such for all employees working at those classified positions listed in Appendix "A" attached thereto and for any other employee employed by the Employer covered by the above C.I.R.B. certification unless, subject to the approval of the C.I.R.B., the parties agree otherwise.

ARTICLE 5: UNION MEMBERSHIP

- 5.01 All permanent employees covered by this agreement shall maintain membership in good standing in Local 2217, International Association of Fire-fighters as a condition of their employment, and each new employee shall become a member of said Local 2217 upon their permanent hiring date with the City of Whitehorse Fire Department.
- 5.02 Subject to article 95(e) of the *Canada Labour Code*, should an employee at any time cease to be a member in good standing of the Union, the Employer shall upon notification in writing from the Union, discharge such employee forthwith.

ARTICLE 6: DEDUCTION OF UNION DUES

6.01 The Employer shall deduct from the wages of each employee covered by this agreement, commencing after the passing of one pay period for the employee, an amount equal to the monthly dues of the Union and shall remit to the Treasurer of Local 2217 all amounts so deducted with a list of the names of the employees from whom such deductions have been made by the fifteenth (15th) day of the month following the month the dues were deducted.

6.02 Casual employees shall not be required to become members of the Union. However, as a condition of employment, they shall authorise the Employer to deduct \$25.00 per shift worked to a monthly maximum of \$150.00.

ARTICLE 7: APPOINTMENT OF REPRESENTATIVES

- 7.01 The Employer acknowledges the right of Local 2217 to appoint Shop Stewards and Business Agents to represent Local 2217.
- 7.02 Shop Stewards shall be appointed for each station as required and they shall not be discriminated against. The Shop Steward shall be recognised as the spokesman for Local 2217 at any station. The Union will notify the Employer in writing of the names of the Shop Stewards who are to be recognised as spokesmen and of any changes thereof.
- 7.03 Business Agents shall have access to members covered by this agreement in the carrying out of their regular duties after first obtaining permission from the Fire Chief, and such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 7.04 The Union shall have the privilege of holding association meetings in the Fire Hall, it being understood that these meetings shall not be held at times or places which in any way may interfere with the successful operation of the department and are subject to the approval of the Fire Chief. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 7.05 All members of the on-duty shift shall be allowed to attend association meetings that deal specifically with ratification of a contract, annual election of association officials, or significant changes to working conditions (changes in duties). At all other meetings, the on-duty crews will remain in their respective station(s) in order to respond to incidents, unless approved by the Fire Chief or designate.

ARTICLE 8: LEAVE FOR REPRESENTATIVES

- 8.01 A Shop Steward shall obtain the permission of the Fire Chief or his designate before leaving his work to investigate with fellow workers complaints of an urgent nature, to meet with management to deal with grievances, and to attend meetings called by management without suffering a loss of pay. Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld.
- 8.02 Elected or appointed officials of the Association shall be allowed to use shift substitutes for the purpose of conducting Association business. Use of shift substitutes by three (3) or more Association officials for a simultaneous period will be subject the prior approval of the Fire Chief, in consideration of operational needs. Such elected and appointed officials shall be responsible to identify qualified substitutes and shall us the City's forms and notification process. Such substitutes shall not count towards an individual's annual accumulated totals.

ARTICLE 9: HOURS OF WORK

- 9.01 Hours of work for permanent fire-fighters shall be an average of not more than 42 hours per week in accordance with a two platoon schedule.
- 9.02 Fire-fighters shall work shifts of no more than ten hours or fourteen hours as follows:

Four day shifts – 0800 hours to 1800 hours; six shifts off

Page 4 2014 – 2021

Fire-fighters' Collective Agreement

Four night shifts — 1800 hours to 0800 hours; four shifts off

Three day shifts – 0800 hours to 1800 hours;

Three night shifts — 1800 hours to 0800 hours; followed by four shifts off

9.03 Fire-fighter and Dispatchers shall be permitted to exchange) scheduled regular shifts with the employees of the same rank or the next adjacent rank providing the following conditions are met:

- (a) Under no circumstances will the Employer bear additional costs as a result of a shift exchange and no impairment in the efficiency of the department, safety of the public or the Department, or the ability of the employer to conduct training will result due to such arrangement.
- (b) One shift of advance notice of the requested exchange has been provided in writing to the Platoon Chief and permission has been granted; such permission not to be unreasonably withheld. Advance notice shorter than one shift may be permitted in extenuating circumstances.
- (c) Employees wishing to exchange shifts must be qualified to work in the position. In the case of Officers, the employee must have adequately performed the higher ranked duties on an acting basis in the previous 12 months.
- (d) In order to maintain continuity and communication, wherever reasonably possible at least one (1) employee of the scheduled shift shall be scheduled on duty.
- (e) If a Fire-fighter and Dispatcher requests shift exchanges beyond fourteen (14) in a calendar year, the Platoon Chief, based on the particular circumstances, shall consider the request. Requests for exchanges beyond fourteen (14) shall be reasonable and shall not be unreasonably denied by the Platoon Chief based on bona fide operational considerations.
- 9.04 The standard work week for the Fire Prevention and Chief Training Officers shall be thirty-five (35) hours, and for the Dispatcher shall be forty (40) hours per week, and for the Dispatch shall be forty-two (42) hours per week.
- 9.05 The work day for the Fire Prevention and Chief Training Officers shall be seven consecutive hours scheduled between 7:00 a.m. and 12:00 a.m. midnight, Sunday to Saturday inclusive, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties to this agreement.
- 9.06 The work day for the Fire Prevention and Chief Training Officers shall have a one hour unpaid lunch break in the employee's time scheduled as close to the mid-point of the work day as possible, and two fifteen-minute rest breaks scheduled approximately mid-way through each half day.
- 9.07 In accordance with 9.04 and 9.05, when the nature of the work to be done or the exigencies of the service so require, the Fire Chief shall prescribe such days and hours of work for the Fire Prevention and Chief Training Officers, and the Dispatcher as deemed necessary. The Fire Chief will be required to give the employee five days notice of a change in normal hours of work.

ARTICLE 10: OVERTIME

- 10.01 A Fire-fighter and Dispatcher who is required by the Fire Chief, Deputy Fire Chief, or the Platoon Chief to work overtime immediately following the completion of his regular shift shall be paid at the rate of one and one-half (1.5) times his regular hourly pay for the time so spent. An employee shall have the right to refuse to work overtime, except in an emergency situation. An emergency shall include coverage of a regular shift when no employee will agree to voluntarily work the overtime.
- 10.02 Notwithstanding the above, when a fire-fighter is required to change fire stations on less than ten hours notice, they shall be paid at the time-and-one-half (1.5) rate for one-half hour. Fire-fighters who are on duty shall change stations at no additional cost to the City.
- 10.03 Subject to the operational requirements of the Department, the Employer shall make every reasonable effort to allocate work on an overtime basis equitably according to rank from readily available qualified fire-fighters who normally perform that work.
- 10.04 If an Employee is required to attend meetings determined to be mandatory by the Employer, and the meeting is on the Employee's day off or outside of his regular shift on scheduled days of work, the Employee shall be provided reasonable notice and consideration shall be given to the employee's previous commitments. Employees in attendance at such meetings shall be paid at one-and-one-half the straight time rate of pay for the actual time spent at the meeting, but in any event they shall be paid no less than two hours.
- 10.05 If an Employee is requested to attend meetings determined to be voluntary by the Employer, and the meeting is on the Employee's day off or outside of his regular shift on scheduled days of work, the Employee shall be paid at the straight time rate of pay for the actual time spent at the meeting, but in any event they shall be paid no less than two hours.
- 10.06 The Dispatcher, Fire Prevention Officer and Chief Training Officers shall be compensated for hours of work performed in excess of standard daily or weekly hours of work at the rate of time and one-half.
- 10.07 Authorization to work overtime shall be granted in advance to the Fire Prevention and Chief Training Officers by their supervisor or department head.
- 10.08 The overtime worked by an employee shall be recorded and approved by the department head on the form provided for that purpose.

Call Out

10.09 An Employee who is called back to work outside his regular shift shall be paid a minimum of two hours pay at the rate of one-and-one-half (1.5) times his regular hourly rate of pay for the time so spent. If more than one call out occurs within the two-hour period, it shall be considered one call-out.

Page 6 2014 – 2021

Meal Allowance

- 10.10 When an employee is required to work overtime without prior notice as outlined in section 10.11 in excess of two consecutive hours contiguous to his regular shift, the Employer shall reimburse the employee for meals as set out in the City's Travel Administrative Directive as amended from time to time, provided the overtime work results in the employee missing a meal.
- 10.11 Notwithstanding section 10.10, when an employee has been provided a minimum of five hours notice prior to the start of his regular shift to work overtime contiguous to his regular shift, no meal allowance will be paid. However, if an employee has been provided with less than five hours notice prior to the start of his regular shift to work overtime at the end of his regular shift, a meal allowance as outlined in section 10.10 will be paid.

ARTICLE 11: REMUNERATION

11.01 All Employees covered by the agreement shall be paid in accordance with Appendix "A" attached hereto and forming part of this agreement. Employees shall be paid in the amounts specified for the position to which they have qualified. Employees shall progress through the rates of pay indicated in Appendix "A" from "Rookie (1st six months)" to "Fire-fighter and Dispatcher 1st Class (years 16+)" and "Rookie (1st six months)" to "Dispatcher 1st Class (years 16+)" based on completing the time required at each rate. Advancing through the progression shall be based on their permanent date of hire.

Probationary Period - New Hires

- 11.02 The probationary period on initial hire for a fire-fighter shall be 90 working shifts. If the probationary period is extended, the employee shall be advised of such extension in writing at least six shifts prior to the end of the probationary period.
 - (a) At a minimum of 15 shifts prior to the completion of the initial probationary period for a fire-fighter, the employee must successfully pass the competency examination.
 - (b) Should the fire-fighter not successfully complete the competency examination, the probationary period may be extended by a maximum of 30 shifts.

Trial Period - Promotions and Lateral Transfers

11.03 The trial period in the case of promotion or a lateral transfer shall be ninety (90) completed working shifts. If the trial period is extended, for cause, the employee shall be advised of such extension in writing at least five (5) shifts prior to the end of the trial period.

Progression

11.04 To progress through the fire-fighter classes, an employee must pass the required competency examinations which measure his knowledge, abilities, and competency to perform the duties of the next level of fire-fighter. All fire-fighters shall receive merit increases upon achieving a grade of seventy-five percent (75%) on competency examinations and completing the required number of shifts as laid out in Appendix "A" of this agreement. The

Employer will provide reasonable training opportunities. The Employer will have meaningful consultation with the employees in the management of this training program.

- (a) The Competency Date of an employee who has been on Leave of Absence without Pay for a period in excess of six shifts shall be moved to a date which provides for a total of 12 months of paid employment between Competency Dates.
- (b) The Competency Date of an employee who has been on paid leave other than annual vacation or statutory holiday entitlements may be moved to a date which provides for a total of 12 months of paid employment between Competency Dates.
- 11.05 Fire-fighter and Dispatchers who are employed on a casual basis shall be paid at the hourly rate for a Fire-fighter and Dispatcher Rookie in accordance with Appendix A of this agreement. Such employees shall progress through the indices in Schedule "A" Salary Schedules, to a maximum of Fire Fighter First Class and Dispatcher First Class based on hours worked equivalent to full time employment.
- 11.06 Any employee who is required by the Fire Chief to perform duties of a higher rank shall be paid at the rate of pay applicable to such higher rank while so acting. Acting time for less than one full shift shall be paid if the on-duty Officer is not reasonably available to respond to an incident. Appropriate leave and time sheets will be submitted to the Fire Chief.
- 11.07 Notwithstanding section 11.03, when a vacancy arises due to short term absences in a Platoon Chief position, that position will be staffed by the Captain on that shift in an acting capacity providing that he has qualified for the position.
 - (a) When a vacancy arises due to short-term absences in a Captain position, that position will be staffed in an acting capacity by the fire-fighter who has been assigned to a station providing that he has qualified for the position.
 - (b) Should it be determined that a position will be vacant for a period of three (3) months or more an indefinite period as per City Polices, the Employer may elect to utilize the competitive process.

New Classifications

- 11.09 In the event that the employer creates a new position which is not included in this agreement and which falls within the jurisdiction of the Union, the Union shall be provided with a copy of the position description and notice of rating.
 - (a) If the Union disagrees with the notice of rating accepted by the Employer, the Union shall discuss the matter with the Employer, and failing agreement, may refer the matter directly to arbitration.
 - (b) The Parties will negotiate, by letter of understanding, the introduction of this new position into the collective agreement.

Eligibility for Promotion

- 11.10 The Employer shall set written examinations for the ranks of Captain and Platoon Chief, which shall be written by employees wishing to be considered for promotion.
 - (a) A minimum passing grade of 75 percent shall be achieved before an employee will be considered eligible for promotion.

Page 8 2014 – 2021

- (b) Employees are required to have written and passed the examination within the past 24 months in order to be eligible for promotion.
- (c) The examinations referred to in section 11.10 shall be made available annually or at such time when the employee reaches competency or is eligible for promotion.

Promotion

- 11.11 Provided employees have kept their qualifications current as per section 11.10, and provided that a position for Captain or Platoon Chief is open, employees may apply for promotion by way of a written application form or resume.
 - (a) Qualified candidates will be interviewed by a selection board consisting of at least three people.
 - (b) Appointments shall be made on the basis of qualifications including but not limited to education, skill, training, knowledge, experience, personal suitability including attitude and work ethic, and previous performance during employment.
 - (c) Where the Employer determines that two or more applicants have equivalent qualifications, the appointment shall be made on the basis of seniority.
 - (d) Based on the outcome of the competition, an eligibility list of the top three certified candidates may be established. This list will be used for staffing future promotions into that position for a period of twelve months from the date of the appointment of the successful candidate.

Training Pay

- 11.12 When an employee is required by the Employer to attend in-service or local training sessions outside the regular hours of work, or an employee who is requested to replace an employee involved in such training, shall be paid at one-and-one-half (1.5) times his regular rate of pay provided the hours are paid out immediately in the next pay period.
 - (a) The employee may, at his option, elect to accrue the training time at one and one half his straight time rate of pay. The time accrued must be taken off in the calendar year in which it is earned. Should the employee elect to be paid out at a later date or by the first pay in December, the Employer shall pay out all monies owing or resulting from the accrued time that has not been taken as time off nor has it been applied for by November 1 of that year to be taken prior to December 31 of that year.
 - (b) Training outside of the City of Whitehorse shall be compensated in the same manner as training inside the City of Whitehorse. That is to say, there shall be no loss of pay when attending training outside the City of Whitehorse and that time spent in training that falls on off-duty time shall be compensated as per 11.13 (a) for required training and 11.13 (c) for optional training for all time so spent. There shall be no compensation for training outside the City of Whitehorse for travel time or for time not spent in attendance in the training session.
 - (c) When training is offered by the Employer which may be undertaken at the employee's option, and which is scheduled outside the regular hours of work, time spent in such training shall be paid at straight time, operational requirements permitting.

Long Service Bonus

- 11.13 Long service bonuses are built into the Pay Table and reflect the following compensation as recognition of years served. Long service bonus is calculated on the continuous service date of the employee.
 - (a) Upon completion of 5 years of continuous full time employment as a permanent employee of the Fire Department, the member shall be paid an index of 102%;
 - (b) Upon completion of 10 years of continuous full time employment as a permanent employee of the Fire Department, the member shall be paid an index of 103%;
 - (c) Upon completion of 15 years of continuous full time employment as a permanent employee of the Fire Department, the member shall be paid an index of 104%;
 - (d) Employees, who started their employment with the Fire Department on or after 01 January 1980, shall receive any earned Long Service Bonus, on a pro-rated basis, from their anniversary date in 2012 to 31 December 2012 inclusive.

Under-fill Pay

- 11.18 The Employer may authorise an initial appointment at less than the Probationary rate on an under-fill basis should the employee lack the full qualifications necessary to the position and is considered to have potential for development in that position. Payment shall be made in accordance with the following conditions:
 - (a) No employee shall be appointed as an under-fill at a pay rate which is less than seventy-five percent (75%) of the First Class (4th Year) fire-fighter rate.
 - (b) When a person is appointed as an under-fill, the under-fill rate of pay may apply for no longer than forty-five (45) working shifts.

ARTICLE 12: STAFFING

- 12.01 In the interest and safety of the citizens of Whitehorse, the Employer agrees to provide adequate staffing of its Fire Department. Whereas operational employees work shift -work which is divided into four platoons, and each platoon consists of a definite number of employees, the Employer agrees that if a shift is short employees for any reason, no replacement will be required provided a minimum of two permanent Fire-fighters are on duty per Fire Hall.
- 12.02 Notwithstanding section 12.01, should the Employer choose to have permanent fire-fighters operate from only one fire hall, a minimum of four permanent fire-fighters shall be on duty at that fire hall. All permanent fire-fighters employed within the scope of this agreement shall not, as a direct result of going to one fire hall, lose their employment with the department.
- 12.03 When normal operations require the calling of a replacement, the Employer agrees to bring in the extra personnel necessary to maintain minimum staffing. Such personnel shall be called from employees to whom this collective agreement applies who are qualified and available.
- 12.04 Nothing in this article shall prevent the calling in of volunteers for support of the permanent fire-fighters when there is a fire or other emergency. Permanent fire-fighters available by pager shall be called first for the fire or emergency, at any time there are three or less volunteers that have agreed to be immediately available by pager.

Page 10 2014 – 2021

12.05 The Fire Prevention Officer, the Chief Training Officer and/or Dispatcher may be called at any time to assist with any incident.

ARTICLE 13: STATUTORY HOLIDAYS

13.01 In lieu of the 12 statutory holidays per year each employee shall receive 12 additional shifts' pay at the time and one-half rate (1.5) for each of the holidays to which he is entitled.

The statutory holidays to which each employee is entitled are:

New Year's Day
Last Friday in February
Discovery Day
Labour Day

Good Friday

Easter Monday

Victoria Day

Canada Day

Thanksgiving Day

Remembrance Day

Christmas Day

Boxing Day

In addition, any days so appointed by the Governor General of Canada, the Commissioner of the Yukon Territory, or the City Council of the City of Whitehorse.

- (a) Notwithstanding the above, should an additional statutory holiday between January 1 and April 30 be declared by the Governor General of Canada, Commissioner of the Yukon Territory, or the City Council of the City of Whitehorse, it shall be celebrated on the last Friday in February holiday as in section 13.01.
- 13.02 Notwithstanding section 13.01, the employee may take a maximum of 12 shifts as time off at the time and one-half rate (1.5) in lieu of payment for the 12 general holidays under section 13.01.
- 13.03 The Employer shall pay each fire-fighter and dispatcher at the time-and-one-half (1 ½) rate for all the statutory holidays that have occurred but not yet been applied for, biannually as follows:
 - (a) The first (1st) pay of June for statutory holidays that occur between January 1st and May 31st, and
 - (b) The first (1st) pay in December for statutory holidays that occur between June 1st and December 31.
- 13.04 Statutory holidays shall be taken by fire-fighters at such time as approved in advance by the Fire Chief.
- 13.05 A casual employee who is scheduled to work on the day on which a statutory holiday falls shall be entitled to regular pay for the hours worked and additional pay in accordance with the provisions of the Yukon Employment Standards Act.
- 13.06 In each calendar year the Employer shall give to the Fire Prevention and Chief Training Officers 12 designated general holidays with pay.
- 13.07 For each such holiday the Fire Prevention and Chief Training Officers shall be paid not less than the equivalent salary they would have earned at their classified rate of pay, for their normal hours of work.

13.08 The Fire Prevention and Chief Training Officers shall receive such holiday pay even if the holiday falls on a Saturday, Sunday or on an employee's day of rest. The designated general holidays shall be:

New Year's Day
The Friday designated for the
Celebration of the Yukon
Sourdough Rendezvous
Good Friday
Easter Monday
Victoria Day
Canada Day
Discovery Day
Labour Day
Thanksgiving Day
Remembrance Day
Christmas Day
Boxing Day

and any other day declared or proclaimed a holiday by the Canadian, Yukon or City of Whitehorse governments.

- 13.09 When a general holiday falls on the Fire Prevention or Chief Training Officers' day of rest, the next working day shall be observed as a holiday.
- 13.10 Without limiting the generality of section 13.06 of this agreement, but subject to the provisions contained herein, general holiday pay provisions will prevail where the Fire Prevention Officer and Chief Training Officer, employed for a period of six months, are off work due to any circumstances for which they are eligible to receive compensation under Worker's Compensation, provided they have earned wages/salary from the Employer during the 60 calendar days immediately preceding the holiday.
- 13.11 The Fire Prevention and Chief Training Officers shall be entitled to general holiday pay as set out above, if they work the last scheduled work day before the holiday or the first scheduled work day after the holiday, is on leave of absence with pay approved by the Employer or is on sick leave. Where the Fire Prevention or Chief Training Officers are on short term disability insurance, they shall not have their benefits reduced for any week in which a general holiday occurs.

ARTICLE 14: VACATION LEAVE

14.01 Fire-fighters and Dispatcher who have received pay for at least eight shifts in each calendar month shall be entitled to vacation leave in accordance with the following schedule and vacation pay as outlined in 14.01(a).

Rate of Monthly		% of O/T Earnings	
Years of Continuous Service	<u>Entitlement</u>	<u>Accrual</u>	<u>Only</u>
First calendar year	1 shift per Month worked	12 hours	6.75%
1 year and less than 3 years	13 working shifts	13 hours	7.12%
3 years and less than 10 years	17 working shifts	17 hours	9.31%
10 years and over	21 working shifts	21 hours	11.50%

(a) Vacation pay at the applicable percentage will be paid on all overtime worked. This will be calculated and paid out to entitled employees by January 31 of the following year.

Page 12 2014 – 2021

- 14.02 The annual leave entitlement for all employees covered by this agreement for the year shall be granted in advance on January 1.
- 14.03 In all cases of termination of services of any employee covered by this agreement for any reason including layoff, recovery will be made for any overpayment of vacation leave.
- 14.04 Vacation leave for fire-fighters shall be allocated on a rotational basis among the employees of each platoon. Each member's "first choice" for the year January 15th to January 14th the following year, shall be applied for on or before January 15th each year in order to be considered in the rotating system. The maximum allotment of vacation days in regards to each member's first choice will be determined by their annual vacation allotment for that year plus their two Unspecified Leave days (i.e. member of less than 3 years: 13 shifts plus 2 Unspecified Leave days). Exceptions to this clause may be taken into account by the Fire Chief and/or the Platoon Chief when a member's first choice is taken.
- 14.05 It is understood that the foregoing does not prevent any fire-fighter from applying for vacation leave for any other time during the year, except that no more than one employee on the same platoon will be permitted to take vacation at the same time unless approved by the Fire Chief.
- 14.06 The Employer shall make every reasonable effort to ensure that annual leave approved under section 14.04 is not unnecessarily cancelled or rescheduled as a result of staff shortages.
- 14.07 Any employee on leave due to occupational injury or illness prior to his vacation leave shall be entitled to reschedule his vacation to another time under the general system pertaining to vacations. An employee who becomes ill or is injured during his vacation may be reimbursed for, or reschedule, his vacation days, providing they can provide verification of being incapacitated by the injury or illness by the end of the 4th consecutive day of scheduled vacation subsequent to the injury or beginning of the illness.
- 14.08 A casual employee who leaves the employ of the Employer shall be entitled to vacation with pay as provided for in the *Yukon Employment Standards Act*.
- 14.09 A probationary employee shall commence accruing vacation leave following the completion of eight working shifts but shall not be entitled to take vacation leave until successful completion of the probationary period.
- 14.10 The Fire Prevention or Chief Training Officers and Daytime Firefighter who receive pay for at least ten days in each calendar month shall be entitled to vacation leave in accordance with the following schedule:

YEARS OF CONTINUOUS SERVICE	MONTHLY ACCRUAL RATES		
	40 HOUR STANDARD WORK WEEK	35 HOUR STANDARD WORK WEEK	
1 and less than 5	13.33 hours	11.66 hours	
5 and less than 10	16.66 hours	14.58 hours	
10 and over	20.00 hours	17.50 hours	

- 14.11 The Fire Prevention or Chief Training Officers and Daytime Firefighter whose continuous service date falls prior to the 16th day of the month shall receive the next higher vacation leave accrual rate during that month.
- 14.12 The Fire Prevention or Chief Training Officers and Daytime Firefighter whose continuous service date falls on or after the 16th of the month shall receive the next higher annual vacation leave accrual rate in the following month.
- 14.13 In January of each year the Employer shall pay each permanent employee for all unused accumulated vacation leave credits in excess of the number of days that were accumulated during the period from January 1 to December 31 of the immediately preceding two year period.
 - (a) Notwithstanding section 14.13, the accumulated vacation leave for the two year period noted cannot be taken collectively unless unique circumstances exist and operational requirements permit the leave to be taken.

Long Service Leave

14.14 In the 21st year of continuous service and every five years thereafter, fire-fighters and Dispatcher will be entitled to an additional 14 shifts of vacation leave and the Fire Prevention and Chief Training Officers will be entitled to an additional 20 shifts of vacation leave. Vacation entitlements under this section shall be considered separately from those outlined in section 14.01 and will not be allocated as per section 14.04. The vacation entitlements under this section which remain unused at the end of the applicable five year period shall not be paid out if not taken and shall not be carried over into the next five year period except in retirement situations only.

Unspecified Leave

14.15 Upon completion of six (6) months' continuous service, an employee shall be granted unspecified leave days, as operational requirements permit, to be used when needed as follows:

Fire-fighters and Dispatchers – 2 Working Shifts

Fire Prevention, Chief Training Officers – 3 Working Shifts

Yukon Bonus

- 14.16 All permanent full time employees who have completed two (2) or more years of continuous service shall be entitled to receive a Yukon Bonus travel benefit in the amount of \$2900.00 and be entitled to the Yukon Bonus each subsequent year of continuous service thereafter:
 - (a) Unless the employee provides written direction otherwise to the Employer, the Yukon bonus travel benefit shall be paid out as an untaxed benefit. Such benefit shall be automatically paid out in the pay period immediately following the entitlement date, to the qualified employees defined above.
 - (b) Subject to the provisions of section 14.16, an employee who has completed at least two (2) years of continuous service and who is laid off, terminated for health reasons or retires during the period of entitlement as in section 14.16 shall be

Page 14 2014 – 2021

- entitled to a Yukon Bonus payment on a pro rata proportional to the number of completed months of service since his last Yukon Bonus entitlement date.
- (c) Subject to the provisions of section 14.16, an employee who has completed at least five (5) years of service and who voluntarily terminates during the period of entitlement as in shall be entitled to a Yukon Bonus payment on a pro rata basis proportional to the number of continuous completed months of service since his last Yukon Bonus entitlement date.

ARTICLE 15: ILLNESS

15.01 Upon completion of 90 calendar days of continuous service, all permanent full time employees shall be granted sick leave when the employee must be absent from work by reason of a bona fide non-occupational illness or accident, or by reason of illness of a member of the employee's immediate family. The granting of such leave shall be subject to the following conditions:

Non-occupational Illness or Accident

- 15.02 An employee who is unable to report for his scheduled shift shall notify the Fire Chief or Platoon Chief prior to the starting time of his working day or as soon after the beginning of the working day as possible in order to qualify for paid leave.
 - (a) Subject to sections 15.03 and 15.04, an employee shall be entitled to time off with pay for periods of absence of four working shifts per calendar year. Absences in excess of three consecutive working shifts shall be accompanied by a certificate from a licensed physician and be governed by section 15.04 of this article.
 - (b) Should it become apparent at any time that a pattern of absence is developing or that the employee is unable to perform the duties of the position, the Employer may require that an employee undergo an independent medical examination or that further medical evidence acceptable to the Employer be furnished to substantiate any period of absence claimed to be illness.
 - (c) Employees who are required to undergo such examination will continue to be paid further sick leave subject to section 15.03 of this article only if the physician has indicated that the employee's medical condition necessitates frequent absences. When no chronic medical problem is indicated, further payment of sick leave shall cease for the remainder of the calendar year.

Illness in the Immediate Family

- 15.03 Leave shall be granted to a maximum of two working shifts per calendar year at any one time when the employee's presence in the home is required to care for or to make arrangements for the care of a family member who is ill in accordance with the following conditions:
 - (a) When no one at the employee's home other than the employee can provide for the needs of the family member who is ill;
 - (b) In the case of illness of an adult family member, the illness must be of a nature which necessitates the employee's attendance upon that person;

- (c) When no family member other than the employee can escort a family member requiring medical attention to a physician and the family member is physically unable to do so himself:
- (d) For the purposes of this section, "Family" shall mean spouse, son, daughter, or father/mother if he/she is a permanent resident of the employee's household. "Family" shall further include common law spouse provided the common law relationship has existed for the full twelve (12) month period immediately preceding the application for leave and the employee's personal file confirms the commencement of such relationship.
- (e) The Employer may request a report from a qualified medical practitioner should any doubt exist as to the legitimacy of an application for such leave.
- 15.04 If in the current calendar year the employee has been granted the maximum leave specified for any of the reasons defined in section 15.02, further leave payments shall be reduced to fifty percent (50%) of the employees regular pay for each hour of leave taken for the remainder of the calendar year.

Wage Indemnity

- 15.05 The carrier will determine whether the Wage Indemnity Policy entitlement conditions are met. Any questions as to whether an employee has met the Wage Indemnity Policy entitlement conditions shall be a matter between the employee and the carrier and cannot be a grievance arbitrable under this collective agreement. Such matters must be pursued under the terms of the Wage Indemnity Policy.
 - (a) Provided the carrier has approved the Wage Indemnity claim, an employee who is absent due to a bona fide non-occupational illness or accident for more than three consecutive work shifts shall be entitled to time off with pay for a maximum of 17 weeks from the first shift of illness in accordance with the following schedule:

Years of Continuous Service	Maximum Benefit
First 90 days	No provision
90 days to 1 year less 1 day	4 weeks at full pay, 13 weeks at 2/3 pay
1 year to 2 years less 1 day	7 weeks at full pay, 10 weeks at 2/3 pay
2 years to 3 years less 1 day	10 weeks at full pay, 7 weeks at 2/3 pay
3 years to 4 years less 1 day	13 weeks at full pay, 4 weeks at 2/3 pay
Over 4 years	17 weeks at full pay

(b) It is further agreed that if an employee becomes ill in accordance with Weekly Indemnity Provisions during his regular days off and he has worked his last regular shift prior to his days off, the claim will be considered to begin on the fourth day of illness provided the fourth day of illness is a regular worked shift. A physician must certify the employee as totally disabled for a minimum of four days/shifts, including the regular days off he was ill, as well as those he normally would have worked. If these conditions are met, the employee will be entitled to time off with pay in accordance with the schedule outlined in section 15.05(a) for the days he regularly would have worked.

Page 16 2014 – 2021

- (c) The cost of the Wage Indemnity Plan shall be borne by the employer.
- 15.06 Successive periods of disability separated by less than 30 calendar days of continuous full time service will be considered one period of disability unless the subsequent disability is due to a sickness or injury entirely unrelated to the cause of the previous disability and commences after the employee's return to full time employment.

Long Term Disability

- 15.07 Permanent employees who are continuously disabled due to a non-occupational illness or accident for a period in excess of 17 weeks may be eligible to receive Long Term Disability payments. The carrier will determine whether an employee is eligible to receive long term disability payments under the provisions of the long term disability plan. Any questions regarding an employee's eligibility for long term disability benefits shall be a matter between the employee and the carrier and cannot be a grievance arbitrable under this collective agreement. Such matters must be pursued under the terms of the long term disability plan. An employee may be terminated from the City as a permanent employee should the total length of disability, including short term and casual sick leave, exceed 24 months in length. However, each case will be assessed on an individual basis and employees may be terminated earlier or later, depending on the circumstances.
 - (a) Payments will be based on an amount equal to 60 percent of the employee's earnings based upon his normal straight time earnings to a maximum benefit of \$3,000.00 per month.
 - (b) Long Term Disability payments shall continue until the employee is able to return to full time employment in their original position, return to full time employment in another position should one be available, retires, or ceases to meet the entitlement conditions of the Insurer, whichever is earlier. The City shall make every reasonable effort to return the employee to the position they were in prior to the disability. The employee's wage shall be red circled if accommodation to a lesser paying position is required.
 - (c) The employee pays 100% of the monthly Long Term Disability premium. In turn, the City reimburses the employee this amount divided into monthly "LTD Top-up" payments.

Attendance Bonus

- 15.08 Any employee who is not absent from work for the reasons described in this article and/or those described in section 16.05 shall become entitled to an Attendance Bonus payment of one-third (1/3) shift for each calendar month during which no sick leave or injury on duty absence occurred.
 - (a) Employees who are absent due to the reasons described in this article and/or section 16.05 for more than one shift with the absence continuing into the following month, will not lose their attendance bonus for the second month provided the absence does not exceed a total of four shifts.
 - (b) Attendance Bonus entitlements shall be accumulated to December 31st of each year and paid to entitled employees by January 31st of the following year.

ARTICLE 16: LEAVE OF ABSENCE

Bereavement Leave

- 16.01 An employee shall be authorised Bereavement Leave in accordance with Part 9, section 58 of the *Employment Standards Act*. Permanent employees will only be paid for bereavement leave taken as follows:
 - (a) The Fire Chief shall grant a permanent employee leave of absence with pay for a period not exceeding six working shifts where there is a death in the employee's immediate family as outlined in 16.01 (b).
 - (b) "Immediate Family" for the purpose of bereavement leave is defined as mother, father, sister, brother, spouse, son, daughter, step-father, step-mother, foster parent, step-child or ward of the employee, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, grand-parent, grandparent-in-law, grandchild and any relative permanently residing in the employee's household or with whom the employee permanently resides. For the purposes of this section, spouse may also include common law partner provided the relationship has existed for the full 12 month period immediately preceding the application for leave and the employee's personal file confirms the commencement of such relationship.
 - (c) A permanent employee shall be entitled to paid bereavement leave for a maximum of one working shift in the event of the death of the employee's brother-in-law, or sister-in-law. Additional leave taken in accordance with section 16.01(a) will be as Leave without Pay.

Marriage Leave

- 16.02 After the completion of one (1) year of continuous service, an employee who provides the Employer five (5) days' notice shall be granted leave with pay to a maximum of four (4) shifts for the purpose of getting married. Such leave shall be taken at the time of the marriage or at the time of the honeymoon provided the leave is approved and arranged prior to the marriage and is taken within the current calendar year.
- 16.03 An employee who gives the Fire Chief five (5) days' notice shall be granted leave, by the Fire Chief, to a maximum of one (1) shift for the purpose of attending the ceremony of the marriage of his son or daughter, current stepson or current stepdaughter.

Birth/Adoption Leave

16.04 Leave with pay to a maximum of two (2) shifts shall be granted to a male employee on the occasion of the adoption or birth of his child, and to a female employee on the occasion of the adoption of her child. These days can be taken either at the time of the birth/adoption and/or at the time the child comes home.

Injury On Duty Leave

16.05 Employees who are injured while on duty and have their claims approved by the Workers' Compensation Board shall receive full salary during their absence for a period not exceeding

Page 18 2014 – 2021

twelve (12) months, but monies received from the Workers' Compensation Board shall be remitted to the Employer during that period.

Leave Without Pay

- 16.06 Leave without pay may be granted to an employee under special circumstances where in the opinion of the Fire Chief the operational efficiency of the department will not be adversely affected.
 - (a) All applications for leave without pay in excess of three shifts shall be subject to the approval of the Fire Chief and the City Manager in advance of the leave being taken.
 - (b) An employee who has been granted leave without pay which results in the employee receiving less than an equivalent of two standard work weeks of pay in any calendar month shall be required to prepay the full cost of medical and group insurance premiums in order to maintain benefit coverage for the period of leave.
 - (c) An employee who has for any reason been granted leave without pay in excess of 15 calendar days shall cause his increment date and continuous service date for vacation, Yukon Bonus, etc. to be advanced to compensate for the amount of leave taken.

Court Leave

16.07 Employees subpoenaed as a witness, or attending court proceedings on behalf of the Employer, shall be granted leave with pay for the time spent in court provided the time so spent is during a regular scheduled shift. It is understood that any pay received in connection with these activities shall be remitted to the Employer. Should employees be required to attend court proceedings on their off-duty time as result of their work they shall be compensated in accordance with article 10.08 (Call Out). Meal and other such expense allowances shall remain with the employee.

Maternity Leave

16.08

- (a) After completion of one year of continuous employment, pregnant employees shall be eligible for 17 weeks maternity leave without pay in accordance with the provisions of the Yukon Employment Standards Act.
- (b) An employee qualifying under section 16.08(a) shall, subject to the provisions of section 13.07(a), also be entitled to request parental leave without pay up to a maximum of 37 weeks in accordance with the provisions of the Yukon Employment Standards Act.
- (c) A pregnant employee shall notify the Employer of her pregnancy and provide as confirmation a certificate from a qualified medical practitioner at least 15 weeks prior to the expected date of termination of the pregnancy.
- (d) A pregnant employee granted maternity leave shall take such leave between 11 weeks prior to the termination of the pregnancy and 26 weeks after the termination of the pregnancy. The employee shall indicate at the time of advice the length of leave required up to the maximum of 17 weeks under section

- 16.08(a) and up to 37 weeks under section 16.08(b). Should there be any question of the employee's ability to continue working, the employee may be required, at the Employer's request, to provide medical authorization of her fitness to continue working.
- (e) The Employer may, upon submission of a certificate from a qualified medical practitioner, permit the maternity leave referred to in section 16.08(a) to commence more than 11 weeks prior to the expected date of termination of the pregnancy, or extend the additional leave without pay more than 26 weeks after the termination of the pregnancy.
- (f) An employee who is on maternity leave shall provide the Employer with a minimum of six weeks' notice, in writing, of the date upon which she will return to work.
- (g) Provided she returns to work in accordance with section 16.08(f), an employee who has been absent on maternity leave shall retain and continue to accrue all her seniority in the bargaining unit for the period that she was on maternity leave.
- (h) An employee's continuous service date will not be advanced by the amount of the maternity leave taken under section 16.08(a) up to a maximum of 17 weeks or by the amount of the parental leave taken under section 16.08(b) up to a maximum of 37 weeks.
- (i) The employee will be required to prepay the employee portion of medical and group insurance plan premiums in order to maintain the coverage for the period of leave.

Unpaid Parental/Adoption Leave

16.09

- (a) An employee qualifying under section 36.1 of the Yukon Employment Standards Act shall be entitled to request parental leave without pay up to a maximum of 37 weeks in accordance with the provisions of the Yukon Employment Standards Act. There shall be no duplication or overlap with the maternity leave provisions under section 16.08.
- (b) An employee's continuous service date will not be advanced by the amount of the parental leave taken under section 16.09(a) up to a maximum of 37 weeks.

ARTICLE 17: GROUP INSURANCE

17.01 The Employer shall provide the following insurance coverage for the employee:

\$100,000.00 -- Group Life Insurance

\$100,000.00 -- Accidental Death and Dismemberment

17.02 The insurance premiums shall be cost shared on the basis of ten percent by the employee and 90 percent by the Employer.

Page 20 2014 – 2021

17.03 Coverage outlined in this article will commence for Employees on the date of hire.

ARTICLE 18: MEDICAL AND DENTAL BENEFITS

- 18.01 Provided the insurance policy requirements are met, the Employer shall provide and maintain the following medical and dental plan benefits for the employees:
 - (a) The premiums shall be cost shared on the basis of twenty-five percent (25%) by the employee and seventy-five percent (75%) by the Employer.
 - (i) Extended Health Care
 - (ii) Dental Plan (Basic Services 100%; Restorative 50%)
 - (b) Should the Yukon Health Care Premiums be reinstated, the premiums for the same shall be the responsibility of the employee, and the equivalent of Long Term Disability payments shall continue to be built into the employee's salary.
 - (c) The Employer will advise the Union before the date that a change in policy carrier becomes effective.
- 18.02 Coverage outlined in section 18.01 will commence for new Permanent Employees on the first of the month following the completion of sixty (60) days continuous service.

ARTICLE 19: REGISTERED RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN

- 19.01 On the commencement date of employment, permanent employees shall enrol in the Employer's Group Registered Retirement Savings Plan.
- 19.02 Subject to the specific provisions of federal legislation, the Employer shall deduct 12.51% of the permanent employee's gross pay for each biweekly pay and deposit such deduction with the Group Registered Retirement Savings Plan holder.
- 19.03 The Employer shall reimburse employees, the RRSP deduction of 12.51%, bi-weekly. Such reimbursement shall not be considered as part of the employee's annual base salary for purposes of computing the value of any other benefit provided for under this contract.
- 19.04 All monies remitted on behalf of the employee shall be immediately vested with the employee.
- 19.05 Employees can transfer out from the Group Registered Retirement Savings Plan once per calendar year providing such transfer is in compliance with Canada Revenue Agency rules and restrictions.
- 19.06 All monies formerly locked-in/vested under the Group Pension Plan will remain locked-in/vested until retirement.

ARTICLE 20: EMPLOYMENT BEYOND AGE 60

- 20.01 The City Manager shall, upon the recommendation of the Fire Chief, allow an employee to remain in the Fire Department Service beyond the age of 60 years where such an extension is justified and in the best interests of the Fire Department, subject to the following conditions:
 - (a) No single extension shall be granted for a period in excess of one year.

- (b) An independent medical examination by a physician of the Employer's choice will be required before an extension of service is considered. The cost of such medical examination shall be borne by the Employer.
- (c) No extension will be granted to an employee who is unable to prove a satisfactory level of physical fitness or to an employee whose past level of performance is less than satisfactory.
- (d) Under no circumstances shall an employee remain in the Fire Department Service beyond the age of 65 years.

ARTICLE 21: GENERAL PROVISIONS

- 21.01 The Employer shall make every reasonable effort to supply refreshments to employees who have been on duty at fires for extended periods. The cost of such refreshments shall be borne by the Employer. The meal shall be consumed as conditions permit.
- 21.02 Employees who have been on duty at fires for extended periods shall be provided with relief, at the discretion of the Fire Chief, when it is reasonable and practical to do so.

Prevailing Rights

21.03 All rights, privileges and working conditions currently enjoyed by the employees which are not included in this agreement shall remain in full force unchanged and unaffected in any manner during the term of this agreement unless changed by mutual consent.

Health Spending Allowance

21.04 All fulltime permanent employees will be eligible to receive a health spending allowance once every two year period to a maximum of \$500.00.

The health spending allowance will be paid to the total amount of submitted receipts for prescription eyeglasses, contact lenses, eye exams or other health related spending, for the employee or any member of the employee's immediate family as defined in Article 15.03 (d).

ARTICLE 22: MEDICAL EXAMINATIONS

- 22.01 The parties to this agreement recognise the essential need for fire-fighters to maintain a high degree of physical health, fitness, strength, agility, and dexterity. In order to ensure that acceptable standards are maintained, Employer-paid medical examinations of all permanent fire-fighters shall be required on an annual basis.
- 22.02 The Employer recognizes the physical nature of fire-fighting and agrees to provide for fitness activity time and access to equipment during the regular shift schedule of all employees, providing that same does not in the judgment of the Fire Chief impair emergency operations in any way. All employees will be provided a 50% discount to adult or family passes for access to the Canada Games Centre.
- 22.03 The parties agree to strike a permanent committee of representation from both the Employer and the Union to manage the Employee Wellness Program collaboratively, based on the following principles:
 - (a) The Committee will be responsible for developing, implementing and managing a

Page 22 2014 – 2021

- program designed to increase employee awareness of wellness and improve and maintain the overall fitness of the unionized workforce.
- (b) The Employer agrees to include the Committee's recommended purchase of equipment in the capital budget of any new construction or renovation of a fire hall in the future.
- (c) Should the parties agree to purchase additional equipment; the Employer and the Union will share equally the cost of a capital program for the purpose of purchasing such additional exercise equipment based on the Committee's recommendations provided that both parties are able to fund the program.
- (d) The Employer agrees to be responsible for all costs associated with the maintenance and replacement of exercise equipment identified and associated with the Committee's recommendations.
- 22.04 It is understood that not all current fire station facilities have room for exercise equipment. However, the Employer agrees that should major renovations or the constructions of new fire stations take place, exercise space and facilities will be provided for. The Union will be consulted and the wellness committee provided an opportunity to make recommendations to the employer regarding that constructions and their input shall be given reasonable and due consideration.

ARTICLE 23: LEGAL REPRESENTATION

23.01 The Employer agrees to defend any and all claims, suits or actions made or filed against an employee and undertakes to indemnify an employee from any and all liability, loss or damage an employee may suffer as a result of claims, costs, demands or judgement against the employee, arising out of or in the course of the employee's normal duties and/or assignments, except where the action of the employee constitutes gross disregard or gross neglect of his duty. An employee shall notify the Employer immediately of any claim, suit or action made or filed against the employee. For the purpose of this article, a "claim", "suit" or "action" does not include a grievance or internal disciplinary proceedings.

ARTICLE 24: TECHNOLOGICAL/ORGANISATIONAL CHANGE

- 24.01 Should the Employer propose to effect a technological change that is likely to affect the terms and conditions or security of employment of a significant number of employees to whom this collective agreement applies, the Employer shall institute such change in accordance with section 52 of the *Canada Labour Code*, Part I.
- 24.02 In the event that the Employer intends to effect a change in the organisational structure of the Fire Department which would significantly impact on the terms and conditions or security of employment of employees to whom this collective agreement applies, the Employer shall notify the Union in advance of such change and shall provide the opportunity for the Union to express its views on the proposed change.

ARTICLE 25: DISCIPLINE

Where an employee is disciplined causing a reprimand to be documented and placed on the employee's file in the Department of Human Resources, such document shall be

- retained on the file for a maximum of eighteen (18) months following the date of the reprimand in accordance with this section.
- 25.02 Should no further disciplinary action be taken during the time period specified herein, the document shall then be removed from the file and forwarded to the employee concerned for destruction.
- 25.03 Any further disciplinary action taken during the time period specified herein, shall cause all documented reprimands to be retained on the employee's file until the expiration of the time period applicable to the most recent documented reprimand.
- 25.04 The Employer shall provide the Steward and the local Union office with a copy of any written record of disciplinary action (including reprimands), which is to be recorded in the employee's file.
- 25.05 Employees shall have the right to Union Representation where formal discipline is being handed out.
 - 25.06 Discipline and discharge shall only be for just cause.

ARTICLE 26: UNIFORMS AND EQUIPMENT

26.01 Uniform purchase shall be in accordance with Schedule B of this agreement.

Uniform Cleaning

26.02 Dry Cleaning of dress uniforms is provided by the city. Employees are entitled to a reasonable amount of dry cleaning each year.

Uniform Kit

26.03 All permanent employees of the Fire Department are expected to maintain their uniforms in good condition. With reasonable notice they may be requested by the Employer to produce, for inspection, all items in the "Uniform Kit", which shall consist of all items listed in 26.01 above. Items not in an acceptable condition will be ordered for the employee out of their available points from the following year(s) if necessary.

<u>Fire-fighter Personal Protective Equipment Issue</u>

- 26.04 All Fire-fighters will be issued with one set of personal protective equipment, as required by WCB Occupational Health and Safety Regulations and Fire Department policy, which will be renewed or replaced as required. Protective clothing shall conform to the provisions of the Occupational Health and Safety Regulations at all times.
- 26.05 Such equipment shall include NFPA approved turnouts complete with coat, pants and helmet, balaclava, hand and wrist protective gloves, all as part of an employee's personal protective equipment, where such standards exist.

ARTICLE 27: SAFETY PROVISIONS

Page 24 2014 – 2021

- 27.01 The parties to this agreement shall at all times comply with relevant health and safety legislation and regulations. Any refusal on the part of an employee to work in contravention of such legislation and regulations shall not be deemed to be in breach of this agreement.
 - (a) NFPA 1500 will be used as a guiding document to develop future workplace policies and procedures.
- 27.02 It is recognised by the parties to this agreement that the responsibility for the safety and well being of City workers is shared jointly by the Employer and employees. All employees shall be required to comply with the relevant City rules, policies and procedures.
- 27.03 There shall be a City of Whitehorse Safety Committee established and maintained and such Committee shall include one employee representative from the Fire Department determined by the union.
- 27.04 The Joint Consultation Committee will set up a process to review fire health and safety matters, local incidents for safety concerns, and reports of other significant incidents to ensure that the Department is operating in a safe manner during any incident. After a review of a local incident or other report, recommendations to the Employer may be made to improve the Department's safety policies.
- 27.05 The Safety Committee shall have the authority to promote, investigate and make recommendations on any matter of safety in the operations of the Employer. If the Committee determines any practice, structure, or equipment to be unsafe in the operations of the Employer, the Committee shall make a recommendation for correction and the Employer shall be required to ensure that all Safety Committee recommendations are investigated and corrective actions taken and where possible have the hazard eliminated.
- 27.06 First Aid kits shall be supplied by the Employer and kept in places easily accessible to all employees. It shall be the responsibility of the Safety Committee to see that the kits are properly cared for and maintained.

ARTICLE 28: SENIORITY/LAYOFF/RECALL

- 28.01 The Employer shall post in a conspicuous place in both fire halls a current list of all permanent full time employees indicating their seniority as of January 1 of the current year. Seniority shall be calculated from the date of hire to a permanent position. The seniority list shall be revised periodically by the Employer as changes occur. Age shall determine seniority for employees hired on the same date, with the older being more senior.
- 28.02 In determining the length of service of an employee for seniority purposes, such length of service shall be computed from the employee's date of hire in the Fire Department except that seniority shall not be applicable during the initial probationary period. When the probationary period is successfully completed, seniority will commence from the original date of hire into the Fire Department.
- 28.03 The employee shall retain and accrue his seniority where leave of absence has been granted by the Employer for a period of up to 90 calendar days, inclusive.
 - (a) Such leave may be extended for an additional period of 30 days when approved by both the Employer and the Union in writing, and seniority will accrue during such extension.

(b) Where an employee has been granted leave of absence on Her Majesty's Service, his seniority shall be continued from the date of re-entering the Employer's service.

Layoff/Recall

- 28.04 Where an employee is to be laid off, the Employer shall provide advance notice in writing of the effective date of the layoff. Such notice shall be at least 48 regularly scheduled shifts in advance of the effective date of the layoff. In lieu of such notice the Employer shall pay to the employee salary and benefits equivalent to 48 regular shifts.
- 28.05 In the event of a reduction in the work forces, layoff shall be affected in reverse order of seniority.
- 28.06 Subject to section 28.09, if layoffs occur, providing a senior man is capable of performing another job within the bargaining unit, he may exercise his seniority rights and take such job.
- 28.07 A laid off employee shall retain his seniority and right to recall within the bargaining unit for 24 months after the last date of layoff.
- 28.08 In the event of a recall or increase in the work force and subject to section 28.09, positions will be filled in reverse order of the layoff provided ability and qualifications are sufficient and the employee is willing to relocate at his own expense.
- 28.09 The parties to this agreement agree that the exercising of seniority rights on layoff or recall shall not be used to achieve promotion for that employee or what would otherwise be deemed a promotion under this agreement, nor shall it be used to circumvent other provisions of this collective agreement.
- 28.10 Notwithstanding section 28.09, an employee may be recalled in a higher classification provided that the employee is capable of doing the job and the employee is not being recalled to a permanent position or if no successful candidate was located by means of job posting.
- 28.11 A laid off employee who is recalled to work within his right to recall period shall retain the annual vacation leave accrual rate that he was entitled to on his date of layoff but he shall not accrue any type of leave for the period he was laid off.
- 28.12 An employee shall be deemed to have resigned if after layoff he fails to acknowledge his availability to report to work within ten calendar days after notice of recall has been issued by the Employer through registered mail to the last address on record with the Human Resources Department and further if he fails to report to work within 15 calendar days after notice of recall has been issued. The time period for reporting to work, after being recalled, may be extended for a maximum of 30 days at the discretion of the Fire Chief when circumstances prevent the employee from reporting for work at the required time.

ARTICLE 29: SEVERANCE PAY

- 29.01 An employee who is terminated for cause shall not be paid severance pay.
- 29.02 On layoff or rejection on probation an employee with less than one (1) year of continuous service shall receive no severance; employees with a minimum of one (1) year of continuous service shall receive severance pay as follows on termination;
 - (a) Three (3) shifts' pay for each full year of continuous service if the employee has less than five (5) years of continuous service;

Page 26 2014 – 2021

- (b) Three (3) shifts' pay for each of the first five (5) years of continuous service and five (5) shifts' pay for each additional completed year of service if the employee have more than five (5) years of continuous service, to a maximum of ninety (90) shifts less any period in respect of which severance pay was granted.
- 29.03 A permanent employee who has five or more years of continuous service shall on resignation receive one-half of the severance pay amount provided in section 29.02(b), to a maximum of 45 shifts less any period in respect of which the employee was previously granted severance for a layoff.
- 29.04 A permanent employee who has 20 years or more of continuous service shall upon resignation be paid five shifts' severance pay for each completed year of continuous service to a maximum of 100 shifts less any period in respect of which severance pay was granted.
- 29.05 If an employee dies while employed with the City of Whitehorse, all severance owing will be paid to the employee's designated beneficiary and/or estate as outlined under this article.

ARTICLE 30: JOINT CONSULTATION COMMITTEE

- 30.01 A Joint Consultation Committee shall be appointed and shall consist of equal representation of the parties and unless otherwise agreed to shall not exceed three representatives from each party.
- 30.02 In the event of either party wishing to call a meeting of the said Committee, the meeting shall be held at a time and place fixed by mutual agreement. Such meeting date shall be arranged not later than 15 calendar days after the request has been given.
- 30.03 A Union representative who has been appointed to the Joint Consultation Committee and who attends Joint Consultation meetings scheduled outside his regular working hours shall be paid for all hours in attendance at the straight time rate of pay.

ARTICLE 31: GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

31.01 Should any difference arise between the parties bound by this agreement concerning its interpretation, application and operation or alleged violation thereof, including any question or grievance arising from the suspension or dismissing of any employee, and including any question as to whether any matter is arbitrable, there shall be no stoppage of work on account of such difference and an earnest effort shall be made to settle the matter promptly in the following manner:

Step 1

31.02 The aggrieved employee shall take the matter up with his Department Manager within ten working shifts of the alleged grievance occurring or becoming apparent. If no settlement can be reached within ten working shifts, Step 2 may be taken. The Association is to be advised of the decision within five (5) Employer's business days.

Step 2

31.03 The Shop Steward and/or Union representative shall take the matter up with the Division Director. Failing settlement at this stage, within ten working shifts, the grievance may

proceed to Step 3. The Association is to be advised of the Step 2 decision within five (5) Employer's business days.

Step 3

- 31.04 The grievance in question shall be in writing and the employee, assisted by his Shop Steward and/or Union representative, shall take the matter up with the City Manager with the department manager in attendance if the City Manager so wishes. If a satisfactory settlement cannot be reached within ten working shifts, the employee may proceed to Step 4. The Association is to be advised of the Step 3 decision within five (5) Employer's business days.
- 31.05 Failure of the parties to comply with the time limits specified in sections 31.02, 13.03 and 13.04, unless otherwise agreed to, shall be deemed to be an abandonment of the grievance.

Step 4 - Arbitration

31.06 In the event that a mutually acceptable settlement cannot be reached in the preceding three steps, the matter may be referred to Arbitration. By mutual agreement, the Union and the Employer will determine whether to use a three-person arbitration board or a single arbitrator.

Arbitration Board

- 31.07 If both parties or either party elect to use a three-person arbitration board, then it shall be appointed and operate as follows:
 - (a) The party desiring arbitration shall appoint a member for the Board and shall notify the other party in writing of the name and address of the person so appointed and particulars of the matter in dispute.
 - (b) The party receiving the notice shall within ten calendar days appoint a member for the board and notify the other party of its appointment.
 - (c) The two arbitrators, so appointed, shall confer to select a third person to be chairperson, and failing for five working days from the appointment of the second of them to agree upon a person willing to act, either of them may apply to the Minister of Labour of Canada to appoint such a third member.
 - (d) The Arbitration Board shall sit, hear the parties, settle the terms of the question to be arbitrated, and make its award within ten working days from the date of the appointment of the chairperson. The parties may extend the time by agreement in writing.
 - (e) If the Arbitration Board finds (or if at any earlier stage of the Grievance Procedure it is found) that an employee has been unjustly suspended or discharged, that employee shall be reinstated by the Employer without loss of pay and with all his rights, benefits and privileges which he would have enjoyed if the suspension or discharge had not taken place, or if the Arbitration Board finds (or if at any earlier stage of the Grievance Procedure it is found) that an ex-employee should have been rehired, that ex-employee shall be employed by the Employer and paid all pay which he would have enjoyed and accorded all rights, privileges and benefits which he would have enjoyed if he had been hired at the proper time. PROVIDED THAT if

Page 28 2014 – 2021

it is shown to the Board that the employee has been in receipt of salary during the period between discharge or suspension and reinstatement or date of failure to rehire and rehiring, the amount so received shall be deducted from salary payable by the Employer pursuant to this section, less any expenses which the employee has incurred in order to earn the salary.

- (f) The Arbitration Board shall have the right to modify any penalty imposed by the Employer on an employee.
- (g) A majority decision of the Arbitration Board shall be final and binding upon the parties.
- (h) If the award of the Arbitration Board is subsequently set aside by a court of competent jurisdiction, the question shall at the request of either party be submitted to another Arbitration Board appointed pursuant to and with all the powers provided by this section.
- (i) The expenses and remuneration of the chairperson shall be paid by the parties in equal shares.
- (j) Without restricting the specific powers hereinbefore mentioned, the Arbitration Board shall have all the general powers of an Arbitration Board.

Single Arbitrator

- 31.08 If both parties agree to use a single arbitrator then one shall be appointed and shall operate as follows:
 - (a) The party desiring arbitration shall notify the other party in writing of its desire to do so and to appoint a single arbitrator. The other party will respond in writing within ten calendar days as to whether a single arbitrator is acceptable, and the parties will endeavour to mutually agree upon a person to act in such capacity.
 - (b) If the parties are unable to agree to a single arbitrator, or if they are unable to agree upon a person to act in such capacity, an arbitration board as outlined in section 31.07 shall be appointed.
 - (c) Once a single arbitrator has been agreed upon, the arbitrator shall have the same powers and be governed by the same procedures as outlined in section 31.07, subsections (d) to (h) inclusive.
 - (d) Each party shall bear one-half of the expenses of the arbitrator.
 - (e) Without restricting the specific powers hereinbefore mentioned, the arbitrator shall have all the general powers of an arbitrator.
- 31.09 Any difference between the parties to this agreement concerning its interpretation, application and operation or alleged violation thereof, including any question as to whether any matter is arbitrable, which cannot be instituted by Step 1 shall be instituted at Step 3 with a written statement of the matter in dispute being submitted by the aggrieved party to the other party. If the aggrieved party is the Employer, the written statement of the matter in dispute shall be submitted to the President of the Union and if the aggrieved party is the Union, the written statement of the matter in dispute shall be submitted to the City Manager. If after a meeting between the parties a satisfactory settlement cannot be reached under Step 3, then within ten working days of such meeting, the aggrieved party may proceed to Step 4.

ARTICLE 32: FUNERAL COSTS

32.01 The city agrees to contribute up to two months' salary towards the costs incurred to provide a full honours Line of Duty Death service for any employee covered by and presently enjoying the benefits provided for in this agreement whose death has been attributed to the work they perform and has been ruled by the Workers Compensation Board compensable. Such services will be in keeping with the IAFF and CAFC accepted protocols. The service, ceremony and other events associated with the ceremony shall be coordinated and collaborated on together with a committee consisting of liaisons from the family, Local 2217 and the Fire Chief.

ARTICLE 33: ROLE OF THE VOLUNTEER/AUXILIARY FIRE-FIGHTERS

33.01 It is agreed that all casual, relief, auxiliary/volunteer and/or paid-call fire-fighters shall work in support of the regular permanent full time Fire-fighters. They shall not be scheduled to regular shifts or perform the duties of regular full time Fire-fighters in a manner that would cause a permanent full time Fire-fighter to be displaced or not replaced when a position is left vacant temporarily or by the departure of an employee, unless otherwise agreed to by the union.

ARTICLE 34: CONTRACTING OUT

- 34.01 Three months prior to the contracting out of a function presently performed by members of the bargaining unit which results in a change in existing operational methods, the Employer shall notify the Union Representative in writing of its intention and shall provide details of the work to be performed.
- 34.02 Should the Union so request, within three working days of receiving notice, discussions with the Employer will be held to review alternative suggestions from the Union. During the life of this agreement, no permanent employee within the scope of this agreement shall, as a direct result of contracting a service, lose his employment with the Employer.
- 34.03 In the event of contracting out a service, a displaced employee's wage shall be red-circled until such time as he is successful in obtaining a position with an equivalent pay range or higher. The Employer shall make every reasonable effort to place employees affected by contracting out in permanent positions with an equal rate of pay to that received prior to such leasing or contracting out.
- 34.04 The Employer recognizes that it is not the function of employees who are not in the bargaining unit to perform work which is currently being performed by an employee in the bargaining unit, except in emergency conditions and for the training and instructing of an employee, and in no case shall an employee in the bargaining unit lose income by reason of the performance of such work by such other person.
- 34.05 Notwithstanding the above, it is recognized that the nature of the work in some departments is such that it is often impossible to distinguish between the work performed by a Department Manager and the bargaining unit employees. However, it is agreed that the Employer shall not reorganize a department in such a way that a Department Manager assumes a significant amount of work previously done by a bargaining unit employee and

Page 30 2014 – 2021

- thereby eliminate that job. This does not preclude the Employer's right to reduce the number of jobs in a department where the workload in that department is reduced.
- 34.06 Notwithstanding any other provision in this article, no employee shall be laid-off or have their hours of work reduced due to contracting-out.

ARTICLE 35: PROFESSIONAL FEES

35.01 The employer shall pay professional, certification and recertification, registration and other fees for any employee who is required by the employer to maintain such professional affiliation or licensing or certification, other than Union dues or affiliated Union organizations.

ARTICLE 36: SAVINGS CLAUSE

36.01 If any article or section of this agreement, or the application of such article or section, should be rendered or declared invalid by any court of competent jurisdiction or by reason of any existing or subsequently enacted governing legislation, the remaining articles or sections of this agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 37: CONTRACT NEGOTIATIONS

37.01 If during contract negotiations the bargaining parties (representatives of the Employer and the Union) are unable to reach a settlement, both parties shall agree to submit to Binding Arbitration without the right to strike or lockout. The Arbitrator's report shall be final and binding on both parties and each party shall bear the expense of their Arbitrator and pay one-half (1/2) of the expense of the Chairperson. The provisions of the *Canada Labour Code* (Part I) shall govern the procedures of the Arbitration Board.

ARTICLE 38: DURATION

38.01 This agreement and all of its provisions shall be deemed to have come into full force and effect on the first day of January, A.D. 2014 and shall continue in full force and effect until December 31, A.D. 2021 and thereafter from year to year unless either the Employer or the Union shall give written notice to the other as provided by the *Canada Labour Code* (Part I) that it desires that this agreement shall be revised, modified, or amended.

2014 – 2021 Page 31

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have hereunto set their hands and seals on this November 24th, 2014.

THE CITY OF WHITEHORSE	
(Signed copy on file in HR)	
Dan Curtis, Mayor	Christine Smith, City Manager
Robert Fendrick, City Clerk	
INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIR	RE-FIGHTERS, LOCAL 2217
Barry Blisner, President	Brian Fedoriak, Vice President
Scott MacFarlane, Treasurer	Mike Albertini, Shop Steward
NEGOTIATED BY:	
ON BEHALF OF THE EMPLOYER	ON BEHALF OF THE UNION

Page 32 2014 – 2021

Summary of Monetary Increases

Duration: January 1, 2014 to December 31, 2021

Wage Increases

January 1, 2014	1%
July 1, 2014	0.5%
January 1, 2015	1%
July 1, 2015	1%
January 1, 2016	1%
July 1, 2016	1%
January 1, 2017	1%
July 1, 2017	1.5%
January 1, 2018	1.5%
January 1, 2019	1.5%
January 1, 2020	1.5%
January 1, 2021	1.75%

Market Adjustments

July 1, 2014	3%
July 1, 2015	2%
July 1, 2016	2.5%
July 1, 2017	3%

2014 – 2021 Page 33

SCHEDULE "A" - SALARY SCHEDULES

Member Remuneration January 1 - June 30, 2014 1%

	Percentage			
	compared to			
Classification/Rank	1st Class Rate @ 100%	Annual Rate	Biweekly Rate	Hourly Rate
Rookie Firefighter, 1 - 6 months	70%	59757.05	2290.60	27.27
4th Class Firefighter, 7 - 12 months	75% 75%	64025.41	2454.21	29.22
3rd Class Firefighter, 2nd year	80%	68293.77	2617.82	31.16
• • •	90%	76830.49	2945.05	35.06
2nd Class Firefighter, 3rd year		85367.21		38.96
1st Class Firefighter, 4 to 5 years	100%		3272.28	
1st Class Firefighter, 6 - 10 years	102%	87074.55	3337.72	39.73
1st Class Firefighter, 11 - 15 years	103%	87928.23	3370.45	40.12
1st Class Firefighter, 16+ years	104%	88781.90	3403.17	40.51
Rookie Dispatcher, 1 - 6 months	65%	55488.69	2126.98	25.32
4th Class Dispatcher, 7 - 12 months	70%	59757.05	2290.60	27.27
3rd Class Dispatcher, 2nd year	75%	64025.41	2454.21	29.22
2nd Class Dispatcher, 3rd year	80%	68293.77	2617.82	31.16
1st Class Dispatcher, 4 to 5 years	95%	81098.85	3108.66	37.01
1st Class Dispatcher, 6 - 10 years	97%	82806.19	3174.11	37.79
1st Class Dispatcher, 11 - 15 years	98%	83659.87	3206.83	38.18
1st Class Dispatcher, 16+ years	99%	84513.54	3239.56	38.57
Platoon Chief	125.5%	107135.85	4106.71	48.89
Captain	115.5%	98599.13	3779.48	44.99
Fire Prevention Officer, 1 st year	105%	74696.31	2863.24	40.90
Fire Prevention Officer, 2 nd year	112%	79676.06	3054.13	43.63
Fire Prevention Officer, 3 rd year	118%	83944.42	3217.74	45.97
Fire Prevention Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	89279.87	3422.26	48.89
Chief Training Officer, 1 st year	116%	82521.64	3163.20	45.19
Chief Training Officer, 2 nd year	121%	86078.60	3299.55	47.14
Chief Training Officer, 3 rd year	123%	87501.39	3354.09	47.92
Chief Training Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	89279.87	3422.26	48.89

2014 – 2021 Page A

Market Adjustment July 1, 2014 3%						
Rookie Firefighter, 1 - 6 months	70%	61549.76	2359.31	28.09		
4th Class Firefighter, 7 - 12 months	75%	65946.17	2527.84	30.09		
3rd Class Firefighter, 2nd year	80%	70342.58	2696.36	32.10		
2nd Class Firefighter, 3rd year	90%	79135.40	3033.40	36.11		
1st Class Firefighter, 4 to 5 years	100%	87928.23	3370.45	40.12		
1st Class Firefighter, 6 - 10 years	102%	89686.79	3437.86	40.93		
1st Class Firefighter, 11 - 15 years	103%	90566.07	3471.56	41.33		
1st Class Firefighter, 16+ years	104%	91445.35	3505.27	41.73		
Rookie Dispatcher, 1 - 6 months	65%	57153.35	2190.79	26.08		
4th Class Dispatcher, 7 - 12 months	70%	61549.76	2359.31	28.09		
3rd Class Dispatcher, 2nd year	75%	65946.17	2527.84	30.09		
2nd Class Dispatcher, 3rd year	80%	70342.58	2696.36	32.10		
1st Class Dispatcher, 4 to 5 years	95%	83531.81	3201.92	38.12		
1st Class Dispatcher, 6 - 10 years	97%	85290.38	3269.33	38.92		
1st Class Dispatcher, 11 - 15 years	98%	86169.66	3303.04	39.32		
1st Class Dispatcher, 16+ years	99%	87048.94	3336.74	39.72		
Platoon Chief	125.5%	110349.92	4229.91	50.36		
Captain	115.5%	101557.10	3892.87	46.34		
Fire Prevention Officer, 1 st year	105%	76937.20	2949.14	42.13		
Fire Prevention Officer, 2 nd year	112%	82066.34	3145.75	44.94		
Fire Prevention Officer, 3 rd year	118%	86462.76	3314.27	47.35		
Fire Prevention Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	91958.27	3524.93	50.36		
Chief Training Officer, 1 st year	116%	84997.28	3258.10	46.54		
Chief Training Officer, 2 nd year	121%	88660.96	3398.53	48.55		
Chief Training Officer, 3 rd year	123%	90126.43	3454.71	49.35		
Chief Training Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	91958.27	3524.93	50.36		

Page B 2014 – 2021

	Member Remuneration July 1 - December 31, 2014 0.5%			
Rookie Firefighter, 1 - 6 months	70%	61857.51	2371.11	28.23
4th Class Firefighter, 7 - 12 months	75%	66275.90	2540.47	30.24
3rd Class Firefighter, 2nd year	80%	70694.29	2709.84	32.26
2nd Class Firefighter, 3rd year	90%	79531.08	3048.57	36.29
1st Class Firefighter, 4 to 5 years	100%	88367.87	3387.30	40.32
1st Class Firefighter, 6 - 10 years	102%	90135.22	3455.05	41.13
1st Class Firefighter, 11 - 15 years	103%	91018.90	3488.92	41.53
1st Class Firefighter, 16+ years	104%	91902.58	3522.79	41.94
Rookie Dispatcher, 1 - 6 months	65%	57439.11	2201.74	26.21
4th Class Dispatcher, 7 - 12 months	70%	61857.51	2371.11	28.23
3rd Class Dispatcher, 2nd year	75%	66275.90	2540.47	30.24
2nd Class Dispatcher, 3rd year	80%	70694.29	2709.84	32.26
1st Class Dispatcher, 4 to 5 years	95%	83949.47	3217.93	38.31
1st Class Dispatcher, 6 - 10 years	97%	85716.83	3285.68	39.12
1st Class Dispatcher, 11 - 15 years	98%	86600.51	3319.55	39.52
1st Class Dispatcher, 16+ years	99%	87484.19	3353.43	39.92
Platoon Chief	125.5%	110901.67	4251.06	50.61
Captain	115.5%	102064.89	3912.33	46.58
Fire Prevention Officer, 1 st year	105%	77321.88	2963.89	42.34
Fire Prevention Officer, 2 nd year	112%	82476.68	3161.48	45.16
Fire Prevention Officer, 3 rd year	118%	86895.07	3330.84	47.58
Fire Prevention Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	92418.06	3542.55	50.61
Chief Training Officer, 1 st year	116%	85422.27	3274.39	46.78
Chief Training Officer, 2 nd year	121%	89104.27	3415.53	48.79
Chief Training Officer, 3 rd year	123%	90577.06	3471.98	49.60
Chief Training Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	92418.06	3542.55	50.61

2014 – 2021 Page C

Member Remuneration January 1 - June 30, 2015 1%

	Percentage compared to 1st Class Rate			
Classification/Rank	@ 100%	Annual Rate	Biweekly Rate	Hourly Rate
Rookie Firefighter, 1 - 6 months	70%	62476.08	2394.82	28.51
4th Class Firefighter, 7 - 12 months	75%	66938.66	2565.88	30.55
3rd Class Firefighter, 2nd year	80%	71401.24	2736.94	32.58
2nd Class Firefighter, 3rd year	90%	80326.39	3079.06	36.66
1st Class Firefighter, 4 to 5 years	100%	89251.55	3421.17	40.73
1st Class Firefighter, 6 - 10 years	102%	91036.58	3489.60	41.54
1st Class Firefighter, 11 - 15 years	103%	91929.09	3523.81	41.95
1st Class Firefighter, 16+ years	104%	92821.61	3558.02	42.36
Rookie Dispatcher, 1 - 6 months	65%	58013.50	2223.76	26.47
4th Class Dispatcher, 7 - 12 months	70%	62476.08	2394.82	28.51
3rd Class Dispatcher, 2nd year	75%	66938.66	2565.88	30.55
2nd Class Dispatcher, 3rd year	80%	71401.24	2736.94	32.58
1st Class Dispatcher, 4 to 5 years	95%	84788.97	3250.11	38.69
1st Class Dispatcher, 6 - 10 years	97%	86574.00	3318.54	39.51
1st Class Dispatcher, 11 - 15 years	98%	87466.51	3352.75	39.91
1st Class Dispatcher, 16+ years	99%	88359.03	3386.96	40.32
Platoon Chief	125.5%	112010.69	4293.57	51.11
Captain	115.5%	103085.53	3951.45	47.04
Fire Prevention Officer, 1 st year	105%	78095.10	2993.53	42.76
Fire Prevention Officer, 2 nd year	112%	83301.44	3193.09	45.62
Fire Prevention Officer, 3 rd year	118%	87764.02	3364.15	48.06
Fire Prevention Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	93342.24	3577.98	51.11
Chief Training Officer, 1 st year	116%	86276.49	3307.13	47.24
Chief Training Officer, 2 nd year	121%	89995.31	3449.68	49.28
Chief Training Officer, 3 rd year	123%	91482.83	3506.70	50.10
Chief Training Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	93342.24	3577.98	51.11

Page D 2014 – 2021

Market Adjustment July 1, 2015 2%

	Percentage			
	compared to 1st Class Rate			
Classification/Rank	@ 100%	Annual Rate	Biweekly Rate	Hourly Rate
Rookie Firefighter, 1 - 6 months	70%	63725.60	2442.72	29.08
4th Class Firefighter, 7 - 12 months	75%	68277.43	2617.20	31.16
3rd Class Firefighter, 2nd year	80%	72829.26	2791.68	33.23
2nd Class Firefighter, 3rd year	90%	81932.92	3140.64	37.39
1st Class Firefighter, 4 to 5 years	100%	91036.58	3489.60	41.54
1st Class Firefighter, 6 - 10 years	102%	92857.31	3559.39	42.37
1st Class Firefighter, 11 - 15 years	103%	93767.67	3594.28	42.79
1st Class Firefighter, 16+ years	104%	94678.04	3629.18	43.20
Rookie Dispatcher, 1 - 6 months	65%	59173.77	2268.24	27.00
4th Class Dispatcher, 7 - 12 months	70%	63725.60	2442.72	29.08
3rd Class Dispatcher, 2nd year	75%	68277.43	2617.20	31.16
2nd Class Dispatcher, 3rd year	80%	72829.26	2791.68	33.23
1st Class Dispatcher, 4 to 5 years	95%	86484.75	3315.12	39.47
1st Class Dispatcher, 6 - 10 years	97%	88305.48	3384.91	40.30
1st Class Dispatcher, 11 - 15 years	98%	89215.84	3419.80	40.71
1st Class Dispatcher, 16+ years	99%	90126.21	3454.70	41.13
Platoon Chief	125.5%	114250.90	4379.44	52.14
Captain	115.5%	105147.25	4030.48	47.98
Fire Prevention Officer, 1 st year	105%	79657.00	3053.40	43.62
Fire Prevention Officer, 2 nd year	112%	84967.47	3256.96	46.53
Fire Prevention Officer, 3 rd year	118%	89519.30	3431.44	49.02
Fire Prevention Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	95209.09	3649.54	52.14
Chief Training Officer, 1 st year	116%	88002.02	3373.28	48.19
Chief Training Officer, 2 nd year	121%	91795.21	3518.68	50.27
Chief Training Officer, 3 rd year	123%	93312.49	3576.84	51.10
Chief Training Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	95209.09	3649.54	52.14

2014 – 2021 Page E

Member Remuneration July 1 - December 31, 2015 1%

	Percentage			
	compared to 1st Class Rate			
Classification/Rank	@ 100%	Annual Rate	Biweekly Rate	Hourly Rate
Rookie Firefighter, 1 - 6 months	70%	64362.86	2467.14	29.37
4th Class Firefighter, 7 - 12 months	75%	68960.21	2643.37	31.47
3rd Class Firefighter, 2nd year	80%	73557.55	2819.59	33.57
2nd Class Firefighter, 3rd year	90%	82752.25	3172.04	37.76
1st Class Firefighter, 4 to 5 years	100%	91946.94	3524.49	41.96
1st Class Firefighter, 6 - 10 years	102%	93785.88	3594.98	42.80
1st Class Firefighter, 11 - 15 years	103%	94705.35	3630.23	43.22
1st Class Firefighter, 16+ years	104%	95624.82	3665.47	43.64
Rookie Dispatcher, 1 - 6 months	65%	59765.51	2290.92	27.27
4th Class Dispatcher, 7 - 12 months	70%	64362.86	2467.14	29.37
3rd Class Dispatcher, 2nd year	75%	68960.21	2643.37	31.47
2nd Class Dispatcher, 3rd year	80%	73557.55	2819.59	33.57
1st Class Dispatcher, 4 to 5 years	95%	87349.59	3348.27	39.86
1st Class Dispatcher, 6 - 10 years	97%	89188.53	3418.76	40.70
1st Class Dispatcher, 11 - 15 years	98%	90108.00	3454.00	41.12
1st Class Dispatcher, 16+ years	99%	91027.47	3489.25	41.54
Platoon Chief	125.5%	115393.41	4423.24	52.66
Captain	115.5%	106198.72	4070.79	48.46
Fire Prevention Officer, 1 st year	105%	80453.57	3083.93	44.06
Fire Prevention Officer, 2 nd year	112%	85817.15	3289.53	46.99
Fire Prevention Officer, 3 rd year	118%	90414.49	3465.75	49.51
Fire Prevention Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	96161.18	3686.03	52.66
Chief Training Officer, 1 st year	116%	88882.04	3407.01	48.67
Chief Training Officer, 2 nd year	121%	92713.17	3553.86	50.77
Chief Training Officer, 3 rd year	123%	94245.62	3612.60	51.61
Chief Training Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	96161.18	3686.03	52.66

Page F 2014 – 2021

Member Remuneration January 1 - June 30, 2016 1%

	Percentage			
	compared to			
Classification/Rank	1st Class Rate @ 100%	Annual Rate	Biweekly Rate	Hourly Rate
•	70%	65006.49	2491.82	29.66
Rookie Firefighter, 1 - 6 months				
4th Class Firefighter, 7 - 12 months	75%	69649.81	2669.80	31.78
3rd Class Firefighter, 2nd year	80%	74293.13	2847.79	33.90
2nd Class Firefighter, 3rd year	90%	83579.77	3203.76	38.14
1st Class Firefighter, 4 to 5 years	100%	92866.41	3559.74	42.38
1st Class Firefighter, 6 - 10 years	102%	94723.74	3630.93	43.23
1st Class Firefighter, 11 - 15 years	103%	95652.40	3666.53	43.65
1st Class Firefighter, 16+ years	104%	96581.07	3702.13	44.07
Rookie Dispatcher, 1 - 6 months	65%	60363.17	2313.83	27.55
4th Class Dispatcher, 7 - 12 months	70%	65006.49	2491.82	29.66
3rd Class Dispatcher, 2nd year	75%	69649.81	2669.80	31.78
2nd Class Dispatcher, 3rd year	80%	74293.13	2847.79	33.90
1st Class Dispatcher, 4 to 5 years	95%	88223.09	3381.75	40.26
1st Class Dispatcher, 6 - 10 years	97%	90080.42	3452.94	41.11
1st Class Dispatcher, 11 - 15 years	98%	91009.08	3488.54	41.53
1st Class Dispatcher, 16+ years	99%	91937.75	3524.14	41.95
Platoon Chief	125.5%	116547.35	4467.47	53.18
Captain	115.5%	107260.71	4111.50	48.95
Fire Prevention Officer, 1 st year	105%	81258.11	3114.77	44.50
Fire Prevention Officer, 2 nd year	112%	86675.32	3322.42	47.46
Fire Prevention Officer, 3 rd year	118%	91318.64	3500.41	50.01
Fire Prevention Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	97122.79	3722.89	53.18
Chief Training Officer, 1 st year	116%	89770.86	3441.08	49.16
Chief Training Officer, 2 nd year	121%	93640.30	3589.40	51.28
Chief Training Officer, 3 rd year	123%	95188.07	3648.73	52.12
Chief Training Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	97122.79	3722.89	53.18

2014 – 2021 Page G

Market Adjustment July 1, 2016 2.5%

	Percentage compared to 1st Class Rate			
Classification/Rank	@ 100%	Annual Rate	Biweekly Rate	Hourly Rate
Rookie Firefighter, 1 - 6 months	70%	66631.65	2554.11	30.41
4th Class Firefighter, 7 - 12 months	75%	71391.05	2736.55	32.58
3rd Class Firefighter, 2nd year	80%	76150.46	2918.98	34.75
2nd Class Firefighter, 3rd year	90%	85669.26	3283.86	39.09
1st Class Firefighter, 4 to 5 years	100%	95188.07	3648.73	43.44
1st Class Firefighter, 6 - 10 years	102%	97091.83	3721.70	44.31
1st Class Firefighter, 11 - 15 years	103%	98043.71	3758.19	44.74
1st Class Firefighter, 16+ years	104%	98995.59	3794.68	45.17
Rookie Dispatcher, 1 - 6 months	65%	61872.25	2371.67	28.23
4th Class Dispatcher, 7 - 12 months	70%	66631.65	2554.11	30.41
3rd Class Dispatcher, 2nd year	75%	71391.05	2736.55	32.58
2nd Class Dispatcher, 3rd year	80%	76150.46	2918.98	34.75
1st Class Dispatcher, 4 to 5 years	95%	90428.67	3466.29	41.27
1st Class Dispatcher, 6 - 10 years	97%	92332.43	3539.27	42.13
1st Class Dispatcher, 11 - 15 years	98%	93284.31	3575.76	42.57
1st Class Dispatcher, 16+ years	99%	94236.19	3612.24	43.00
Platoon Chief	125.5%	119461.03	4579.16	54.51
Captain	115.5%	109942.22	4214.28	50.17
Fire Prevention Officer, 1 st year	105%	83289.56	3192.64	45.61
Fire Prevention Officer, 2 nd year	112%	88842.20	3405.48	48.65
Fire Prevention Officer, 3 rd year	118%	93601.60	3587.92	51.26
Fire Prevention Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	99550.86	3815.96	54.51
Chief Training Officer, 1 st year	116%	92015.14	3527.11	50.39
Chief Training Officer, 2 nd year	121%	95981.31	3679.14	52.56
Chief Training Officer, 3 rd year	123%	97567.77	3739.95	53.43
Chief Training Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	99550.86	3815.96	54.51

Page H 2014 – 2021

Member Remuneration July 1 - December 31, 2016 1.0%

	Percentage compared to			
Classification/Rank	1st Class Rate @ 100%	Annual Rate	Biweekly Rate	Hourly Rate
Rookie Firefighter, 1 - 6 months	70%	67297.97	, 2579.65	30.71
4th Class Firefighter, 7 - 12 months	75%	72104.96	2763.91	32.90
3rd Class Firefighter, 2nd year	80%	76911.96	2948.17	35.10
2nd Class Firefighter, 3rd year	90%	86525.96	3316.70	39.48
1st Class Firefighter, 4 to 5 years	100%	96139.95	3685.22	43.87
1st Class Firefighter, 6 - 10 years	102%	98062.75	3758.92	44.75
1st Class Firefighter, 11 - 15 years	103%	99024.15	3795.77	45.19
1st Class Firefighter, 16+ years	104%	99985.55	3832.63	45.63
Rookie Dispatcher, 1 - 6 months	65%	62490.97	2395.39	28.52
4th Class Dispatcher, 7 - 12 months	70%	67297.97	2579.65	30.71
3rd Class Dispatcher, 2nd year	75%	72104.96	2763.91	32.90
2nd Class Dispatcher, 3rd year	80%	76911.96	2948.17	35.10
1st Class Dispatcher, 4 to 5 years	95%	91332.95	3500.96	41.68
1st Class Dispatcher, 6 - 10 years	97%	93255.75	3574.66	42.56
1st Class Dispatcher, 11 - 15 years	98%	94217.15	3611.51	42.99
1st Class Dispatcher, 16+ years	99%	95178.55	3648.37	43.43
Platoon Chief	125.5%	120655.64	4624.95	55.06
Captain	115.5%	111041.65	4256.43	50.67
Fire Prevention Officer, 1 st year	105%	84122.46	3224.57	46.07
Fire Prevention Officer, 2 nd year	112%	89730.62	3439.54	49.14
Fire Prevention Officer, 3 rd year	118%	94537.62	3623.80	51.77
Fire Prevention Officer, 4 th year	127.0%	101748.12	3900.19	55.72
Chief Training Officer, 1 st year	116%	92935.29	3562.38	50.89
Chief Training Officer, 2 nd year	121%	96941.12	3715.93	53.08
Chief Training Officer, 3 rd year	123%	98543.45	3777.35	53.96
Chief Training Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	100546.37	3854.12	55.06

2014 – 2021 Page I

Member Remuneration & Indice Change for italiced members January 1, 2017 - June 30, 2017 1%

	Percentage compared to 1st Class Rate			
Classification/Rank	@ 100%	Annual Rate	Biweekly Rate	Hourly Rate
Rookie Firefighter, 1 - 6 months	70%	67970.95	2605.45	31.02
4th Class Firefighter, 7 - 12 months	75%	72826.01	2791.55	33.23
3rd Class Firefighter, 2nd year	80%	77681.08	2977.66	35.45
2nd Class Firefighter, 3rd year	90%	87391.22	3349.86	39.88
1st Class Firefighter, 4 to 5 years	100%	97101.35	3722.07	44.31
1st Class Firefighter, 6 - 10 years	102%	99043.38	3796.51	45.20
1st Class Firefighter, 11 - 15 years	103%	100014.39	3833.73	45.64
1st Class Firefighter, 16+ years	104%	100985.41	3870.95	46.08
Rookie Dispatcher, 1 - 6 months	65%	63115.88	2419.35	28.80
4th Class Dispatcher, 7 - 12 months	70%	67970.95	2605.45	31.02
3rd Class Dispatcher, 2nd year	75%	72826.01	2791.55	33.23
2nd Class Dispatcher, 3rd year	80%	77681.08	2977.66	35.45
1st Class Dispatcher, 4 to 5 years	95%	92246.28	3535.97	42.09
1st Class Dispatcher, 6 - 10 years	97%	94188.31	3610.41	42.98
1st Class Dispatcher, 11 - 15 years	98%	95159.32	3647.63	43.42
1st Class Dispatcher, 16+ years	99%	96130.34	3684.85	43.87
Platoon Chief	129%	125260.74	4801.47	57.16
Captain	118%	114579.60	4392.04	52.29
Fire Prevention Officer, 1 st year	105%	97392.66	3733.24	53.33
Fire Prevention Officer, 2 nd year	112%	98347.49	3769.84	53.85
Fire Prevention Officer, 3 rd year	118%	99302.32	3806.44	54.38
Fire Prevention Officer, 4 th year	127.0%	102765.60	3939.19	56.27
Chief Training Officer, 1 st year	116%	93864.64	3598.00	51.40
Chief Training Officer, 2 nd year	121%	97910.53	3753.09	53.62
Chief Training Officer, 3 rd year	123%	99528.89	3815.12	54.50
Chief Training Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	101551.83	3892.66	55.61

Page J 2014 – 2021

Market Adjustment July 1, 2017 3%

	Percentage compared to 1st Class Rate			
Classification/Rank	@ 100%	Annual Rate	Biweekly Rate	Hourly Rate
Rookie Firefighter, 1 - 6 months	70%	70010.07	2683.61	31.95
4th Class Firefighter, 7 - 12 months	75%	75010.79	2875.30	34.23
3rd Class Firefighter, 2nd year	80%	80011.51	3066.99	36.51
2nd Class Firefighter, 3rd year	90%	90012.95	3450.36	41.08
1st Class Firefighter, 4 to 5 years	100%	100014.39	3833.73	45.64
1st Class Firefighter, 6 - 10 years	102%	102014.68	3910.41	46.55
1st Class Firefighter, 11 - 15 years	103%	103014.82	3948.74	47.01
1st Class Firefighter, 16+ years	104%	104014.97	3987.08	47.47
Rookie Dispatcher, 1 - 6 months	65%	65009.36	2491.93	29.67
4th Class Dispatcher, 7 - 12 months	70%	70010.07	2683.61	31.95
3rd Class Dispatcher, 2nd year	75%	75010.79	2875.30	34.23
2nd Class Dispatcher, 3rd year	80%	80011.51	3066.99	36.51
1st Class Dispatcher, 4 to 5 years	95%	95013.67	3642.05	43.36
1st Class Dispatcher, 6 - 10 years	97%	97013.96	3718.72	44.27
1st Class Dispatcher, 11 - 15 years	98%	98014.10	3757.06	44.73
1st Class Dispatcher, 16+ years	99%	99014.25	3795.39	45.18
Platoon Chief	129%	129018.57	4945.51	58.88
Captain	118%	118016.98	4523.80	53.85
Fire Prevention Officer, 1 st year	105%	100314.44	3845.23	54.93
Fire Prevention Officer, 2 nd year	112%	101297.91	3882.93	55.47
Fire Prevention Officer, 3 rd year	118%	102281.39	3920.63	56.01
Fire Prevention Officer, 4 th year	127.0%	105848.57	4057.37	57.96
Chief Training Officer, 1 st year	116%	96680.58	3705.94	52.94
Chief Training Officer, 2 nd year	121%	100847.85	3865.68	55.22
Chief Training Officer, 3 rd year	123%	102514.75	3929.57	56.14
Chief Training Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	104598.39	4009.44	57.28

2014 – 2021 Page K

Member Remuneration July 1 - December 31, 2017 1.5%

	Percentage compared to 1st Class Rate			
Classification/Rank	@ 100%	Annual Rate	Biweekly Rate	Hourly Rate
Rookie Firefighter, 1 - 6 months	70%	71060.23	2723.87	32.43
4th Class Firefighter, 7 - 12 months	75%	76135.96	2918.43	34.74
3rd Class Firefighter, 2nd year	80%	81211.69	3112.99	37.06
2nd Class Firefighter, 3rd year	90%	91363.15	3502.11	41.69
1st Class Firefighter, 4 to 5 years	100%	101514.61	3891.24	46.32
1st Class Firefighter, 6 - 10 years	102%	103544.90	3969.06	47.25
1st Class Firefighter, 11 - 15 years	103%	104560.05	4007.97	47.71
1st Class Firefighter, 16+ years	104%	105575.19	4046.89	48.18
Rookie Dispatcher, 1 - 6 months	65%	65984.50	2529.30	30.11
4th Class Dispatcher, 7 - 12 months	70%	71060.23	2723.87	32.43
3rd Class Dispatcher, 2nd year	75%	76135.96	2918.43	34.74
2nd Class Dispatcher, 3rd year	80%	81211.69	3112.99	37.06
1st Class Dispatcher, 4 to 5 years	95%	96438.88	3696.68	44.01
1st Class Dispatcher, 6 - 10 years	97%	98469.17	3774.50	44.93
1st Class Dispatcher, 11 - 15 years	98%	99484.32	3813.41	45.40
1st Class Dispatcher, 16+ years	99%	100499.46	3852.33	45.86
Platoon Chief	129%	130953.84	5019.70	59.76
Captain	118%	119787.24	4591.66	54.66
Fire Prevention Officer, 1 st year	105%	101819.15	3902.91	55.76
Fire Prevention Officer, 2 nd year	112%	102817.38	3941.18	56.30
Fire Prevention Officer, 3 rd year	118%	103815.61	3979.44	56.85
Fire Prevention Officer, 4 th year	127.0%	107436.29	4118.23	58.83
Chief Training Officer, 1 st year	116%	98130.79	3761.53	53.74
Chief Training Officer, 2 nd year	121%	102360.56	3923.66	56.05
Chief Training Officer, 3 rd year	123%	104052.47	3988.52	56.98
Chief Training Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	106167.36	4069.59	58.14

Page L 2014 – 2021

Member Remuneration January 1 - December 31, 2018 1.5%

	Percentage compared to			
Classification/Rank	1st Class Rate @ 100%	Annual Rate	Biweekly Rate	Hourly Rate
Rookie Firefighter, 1 - 6 months	70%	72126.13	2764.72	32.91
4th Class Firefighter, 7 - 12 months	75%	77278.00	2962.20	35.26
3rd Class Firefighter, 2nd year	80%	82429.86	3159.68	37.62
2nd Class Firefighter, 3rd year	90%	92733.59	3554.65	42.32
1st Class Firefighter, 4 to 5 years	100%	103037.33	3949.61	47.02
1st Class Firefighter, 6 - 10 years	102%	105098.07	4028.60	47.96
1st Class Firefighter, 11 - 15 years	103%	106128.45	4068.09	48.43
1st Class Firefighter, 16+ years	104%	107158.82	4107.59	48.90
Rookie Dispatcher, 1 - 6 months	65%	66974.26	2567.24	30.56
4th Class Dispatcher, 7 - 12 months	70%	72126.13	2764.72	32.91
3rd Class Dispatcher, 2nd year	75%	77278.00	2962.20	35.26
2nd Class Dispatcher, 3rd year	80%	82429.86	3159.68	37.62
1st Class Dispatcher, 4 to 5 years	95%	97885.46	3752.13	44.67
1st Class Dispatcher, 6 - 10 years	97%	99946.21	3831.12	45.61
1st Class Dispatcher, 11 - 15 years	98%	100976.58	3870.61	46.08
1st Class Dispatcher, 16+ years	99%	102006.95	3910.11	46.55
Platoon Chief	129%	132918.15	5094.99	60.65
Captain	118%	121584.05	4660.54	55.48
Fire Prevention Officer, 1 st year	105%	103346.44	3961.46	56.59
Fire Prevention Officer, 2 nd year	112%	104359.64	4000.29	57.15
Fire Prevention Officer, 3 rd year	118%	105372.84	4039.13	57.70
Fire Prevention Officer, 4 th year	127.0%	109047.84	4180.00	59.71
Chief Training Officer, 1 st year	116%	99602.75	3817.95	54.54
Chief Training Officer, 2 nd year	121%	103895.97	3982.52	56.89
Chief Training Officer, 3 rd year	123%	105613.26	4048.35	57.83
Chief Training Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	107759.87	4130.63	59.01

2014 – 2021 Page M

Member Remuneration January 1 - December 31, 2019 1.5%

	Percentage compared to 1st Class Rate			
Classification/Rank	@ 100%	Annual Rate	Biweekly Rate	Hourly Rate
Rookie Firefighter, 1 - 6 months	70%	73208.02	2806.20	33.41
4th Class Firefighter, 7 - 12 months	75%	78437.17	3006.64	35.79
3rd Class Firefighter, 2nd year	80%	83666.31	3207.08	38.18
2nd Class Firefighter, 3rd year	90%	94124.60	3607.97	42.95
1st Class Firefighter, 4 to 5 years	100%	104582.89	4008.85	47.72
1st Class Firefighter, 6 - 10 years	102%	106674.55	4089.03	48.68
1st Class Firefighter, 11 - 15 years	103%	107720.37	4129.12	49.16
1st Class Firefighter, 16+ years	104%	108766.20	4169.20	49.63
Rookie Dispatcher, 1 - 6 months	65%	67978.88	2605.75	31.02
4th Class Dispatcher, 7 - 12 months	70%	73208.02	2806.20	33.41
3rd Class Dispatcher, 2nd year	75%	78437.17	3006.64	35.79
2nd Class Dispatcher, 3rd year	80%	83666.31	3207.08	38.18
1st Class Dispatcher, 4 to 5 years	95%	99353.74	3808.41	45.34
1st Class Dispatcher, 6 - 10 years	97%	101445.40	3888.58	46.29
1st Class Dispatcher, 11 - 15 years	98%	102491.23	3928.67	46.77
1st Class Dispatcher, 16+ years	99%	103537.06	3968.76	47.25
Platoon Chief	129%	134911.92	5171.42	61.56
Captain	118%	123407.81	4730.44	56.31
Fire Prevention Officer, 1 st year	105%	104896.64	4020.88	57.44
Fire Prevention Officer, 2 nd year	112%	105925.03	4060.30	58.00
Fire Prevention Officer, 3 rd year	118%	106953.43	4099.72	58.57
Fire Prevention Officer, 4 th year	127.0%	110683.56	4242.70	60.61
Chief Training Officer, 1 st year	116%	101096.79	3875.22	55.36
Chief Training Officer, 2 nd year	121%	105454.41	4042.26	57.75
Chief Training Officer, 3 rd year	123%	107197.46	4109.07	58.70
Chief Training Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	109376.27	4192.59	59.89

Page N 2014 – 2021

Member Remuneration January 1 - December 31, 2020 1.5%

Percentage			
compared to			
	Annual Pate	Riwookly Pato	Hourly Rate
_		•	•
			33.91
			36.33
			38.75
90%	95536.47	3662.08	43.60
100%	106151.63	4068.98	48.44
102%	108274.66	4150.36	49.41
103%	109336.18	4191.05	49.89
104%	110397.70	4231.74	50.38
65%	68998.56	2644.84	31.49
70%	74306.14	2848.29	33.91
75%	79613.72	3051.74	36.33
80%	84921.30	3255.19	38.75
95%	100844.05	3865.53	46.02
97%	102967.08	3946.91	46.99
98%	104028.60	3987.60	47.47
99%	105090.11	4028.29	47.96
129%	136935.60	5248.99	62.49
118%	125258.92	4801.40	57.16
105%	106470.09	4081.19	58.30
112%	107513.91	4121.20	58.87
118%	108557.73	4161.21	59.45
127.0%	112343.81	4306.34	61.52
116%	102613.24	3933.35	56.19
121%	107036.23	4102.89	58.61
123%	108805.42	4170.71	59.58
125.5%	111016.91	4255.48	60.79
	compared to 1st Class Rate @ 100% 70% 75% 80% 90% 100% 102% 103% 104% 65% 70% 75% 80% 95% 97% 98% 99% 1129% 118% 105% 112% 118% 127.0% 116% 121% 123%	compared to 1st Class Rate @ 100%	compared to 1st Class Rate Annual Rate Biweekly Rate 70% 74306.14 2848.29 75% 79613.72 3051.74 80% 84921.30 3255.19 90% 95536.47 3662.08 100% 106151.63 4068.98 102% 108274.66 4150.36 103% 109336.18 4191.05 104% 110397.70 4231.74 65% 68998.56 2644.84 70% 74306.14 2848.29 75% 79613.72 3051.74 80% 84921.30 3255.19 95% 100844.05 3865.53 97% 102967.08 3946.91 98% 104028.60 3987.60 99% 105090.11 4028.29 129% 136935.60 5248.99 118% 125258.92 4801.40 105% 106470.09 4081.19 112% 107513.91 4121.20 118% 108557.73 4161.21

2014 – 2021 Page 0

Member Remuneration January 1 - December 31, 2021 1.75%

	Percentage compared to 1st Class Rate			
Classification/Rank	@ 100%	Annual Rate	Biweekly Rate	Hourly Rate
Rookie Firefighter, 1 - 6 months	70%	75606.50	2898.13	34.50
4th Class Firefighter, 7 - 12 months	75%	81006.96	3105.14	36.97
3rd Class Firefighter, 2nd year	80%	86407.43	3312.15	39.43
2nd Class Firefighter, 3rd year	90%	97208.36	3726.17	44.36
1st Class Firefighter, 4 to 5 years	100%	108009.28	4140.19	49.29
1st Class Firefighter, 6 - 10 years	102%	108819.35	4171.24	49.66
1st Class Firefighter, 11 - 15 years	103%	111249.56	4264.40	50.77
1st Class Firefighter, 16+ years	104%	112329.66	4305.80	51.26
Rookie Dispatcher, 1 - 6 months	65%	70206.03	2691.12	32.04
4th Class Dispatcher, 7 - 12 months	70%	75606.50	2898.13	34.50
3rd Class Dispatcher, 2nd year	75%	81006.96	3105.14	36.97
2nd Class Dispatcher, 3rd year	80%	86407.43	3312.15	39.43
1st Class Dispatcher, 4 to 5 years	95%	102608.82	3933.18	46.82
1st Class Dispatcher, 6 - 10 years	97%	104769.01	4015.98	47.81
1st Class Dispatcher, 11 - 15 years	98%	105849.10	4057.39	48.30
1st Class Dispatcher, 16+ years	99%	106929.19	4098.79	48.80
Platoon Chief	129%	139331.98	5340.85	63.58
Captain	118%	127450.96	4885.42	58.16
Fire Prevention Officer, 1 st year	105%	107005.70	4101.72	58.60
Fire Prevention Officer, 2 nd year	112%	109395.40	4193.32	59.90
Fire Prevention Officer, 3 rd year	118%	110457.49	4234.03	60.49
Fire Prevention Officer, 4 th year	127.0%	114309.83	4381.70	62.60
Chief Training Officer, 1 st year	116%	104408.97	4002.18	57.17
Chief Training Officer, 2 nd year	121%	108909.36	4174.69	59.64
Chief Training Officer, 3 rd year	123%	110709.52	4243.70	60.62
Chief Training Officer, 4 th year	125.5%	112959.71	4329.95	61.86

Page P 2014 – 2021

SCHEDULE "B" - UNIFORMS

The Employer shall provide and maintain for each employee protective clothing and uniforms in accordance with City policies. Upon successful completion of probation, the Employer shall provide a complete uniform to all employees covered by this agreement, as follows:

- (a) One (1) cap and badge
- (b) Two (2) pairs trousers, skirts or slacks for female employees
- (c) Four (4) uniform shirts, short or long sleeve, light or dark blue c/w shoulder flashes
- (d) Two (2) T-shirts
- (e) One (1) Job Shirt or One (1) Sweater
- (f) One (1) pair boots or shoes
- (g) One (1) dress uniform consisting of tunic, pants and shoes, complete with a white shirt in the case of an officer
- (h) One (1) jacket
- (i) One (1) tie
- (j) One (1) name tag
- (k) One (1) pair of coveralls
- (I) One (1) pair of shorts
- (m) One (1) toque

Uniform Clothing Purchase

Permanent employees will be provided four-hundred (450) points (as provided for in Schedule "B" of this agreement) at the beginning of each calendar year that may be carried over to the next year if not used. New permanent employees who have been employed less than one calendar year will be provided ten (10) points for each month or part month of employment that may be carried over to the next year if not used. However, all unused points of all employees will be forfeited back to the employer at the end of a common biennial period.

The biennial period shall be as follows:

- a) Years ending in an odd number (1,3,5, etc.) shall have points carried over to the next year;
- b) Years ending in an even number (2, 4, 6, etc.) shall have points forfeited back to the employer.

Purchase Procedures

- a) Each member shall be given a uniform purchase sheet annually showing their points available for that current year.
- b) Uniforms will be ordered at the discretion of the department to provide for efficiencies and to ensure good condition of all employee uniforms, but in any event no less than annually by September 30.
- c) Broken or damaged items or items in need of replacement due to extenuating circumstances will be replaced at no cost to an employee's points.
- d) The Chief Training Officer, Fire Prevention Officer and any member required to work straight days shall be provided an additional 100 points each calendar year.
- e) Members who have submitted a letter of resignation or retirement shall not be permitted to order uniforms.
- f) Members facing required retirement shall have their uniform points pro-rated in the year in which they will retire.

2014 – 2021 Page Q

- g) Members who have been dismissed or who have resigned are required to return any uniform in their possession to the Employer.
- h) Uniforms may be added or deleted from the order form lists by mutual agreement at the Joint Consultation Committee.
- i) Uniform items ordered shall be sized to fit the employee appropriately.
- j) Uniform items available for order and their value by points shall be as follows:

Point System Orders			
<u>Clothing Item</u>	Maximum Available	<u>Point Value</u>	
Uniform Station Pants	3	65	
Uniform Collared Station Shirts (L/S)	4	50	
Shoes	1	150	
Boots (Complete with zipper)	1	190	
Boot Zipper	1	25	
Belt	1	20	
Ball Cap	1	20	
Sweater	1	50	
T-Shirt (L/S)	6	20	
Uniform Vest	1	35	
Coveralls	1 pair every two years	70	
Jacket (Winter)	1	160	
Class "A" Dress Uniform with Shoes	1 set every two years	350	
Class "A" Dress Uniform Cap / Badge	1	50	
Tie	2	15	
Name Tag	1	15	
Wallet with Rank Badge	1	50	
Epaulets Insignia Kit	1 set	30	
Mock Turtleneck	1	45	
Combo Fleece Jacket	1	130	
Soft Shell Jacket (Black)	1	140	
Job Shirt (Canvas Collar)	1	70	
Job Shirt (1/4 Zip Collar)	1	70	
Toque	1	20	
Station Exercise Shirt	2	30	

Page R 2014 – 2021

Fire-fighters' Collective Agreement

Flex Exercise Sweats	1	50
Station Exercise Shorts	1	30
Golf Shirt	2	40

2014 – 2021 Page S

RE: Benefit Package Consultation

BY AND BETWEEN: THE CITY OF WHITEHORSE

AND: THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE-FIGHTERS,

LOCAL 2217

It is agreed that, prior to the employer soliciting tenders from benefit carriers, the employer shall create an employee committee to review the terms of reference, on which IAFF agrees to participate. The Committee would include representatives from all employee groups.

Further, prior to the awarding of a bid on the Benefits Package, the review team shall review the bids and provide a recommendation to the employer on the preferred package.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have affixed their signatures by the officers designated in that behalf on the 24th day of November, 2014.

CITY OF WHITEHORSE IAFF, LOCAL 2217

Christine Smith Barry Blisner,
City Manager President, Local 2217

2014 – 2021 Page i

RE: Investigation into Superannuation Options

The parties agree to establish a working committee of up to two (2) city and two (2) Association representatives to investigate the feasibility, opportunities and issues associated with the possible enrolment of Fire-fighters into the Federal Government Superannuation Plan.

In Witness Whereof the parties hereto affixed their signatures by the officer designated in that behalf on the 24th day of November, 2014.

CITY OF WHITEHORSE	IAFF, LOCAL 2217
Christine Smith	Barry Blisner,
City Manager	President, Local 2217

Page ii 2014 – 2021

RE: Medical Examinations

BY AND BETWEEN: THE CITY OF WHITEHORSE

AND: THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE-FIGHTERS,

LOCAL 2217

Pursuant to the terms of the collective agreement between the above mentioned parties signed the 14th day of October, it is agreed that, the Joint Consultation Committee will meet with a qualified medical practitioner to determine medical testing requirements.

In Witness Whereof the parties hereto affixed their signatures by the officer designated in that behalf on the 24th day of November, 2014.

CITY OF WHITEHORSE IAFF, LOCAL 2217

Christine Smith Barry Blisner,
City Manager President, Local 2217

2014 – 2021 Page iii

RE: Daytime Fire-fighter Position

BY AND BETWEEN: THE CITY OF WHITEHORSE

AND: THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE-FIGHTERS,

LOCAL 2217

Pursuant to the terms of the Collective Agreement between the above-mentioned parties signed the 10th day of December 2012, the parties hereby agree to the following language changes relating to the hiring of a second Daytime Fire-fighter position with the International Association of Fire-fighters, Local 2217:

All clauses that currently specify the working conditions for the Chief Training Officer and Fire Prevention Officer will apply to the Daytime Fire-fighter with the following exceptions:

Article 9

Hours of work for permanent Daytime Fire-fighters shall be an average of not more than forty-two (42) hours per week in accordance with a two (2) Platoon schedule. Daytime Fire-fighters shall work a rotating shift pattern consisting of four (4) twelve (12) hour days followed by four (4) days off. The shift shall be from 0800 to 2000 hours daily.

Daytime Fire-fighters will automatically be offered permanent Shift Fire-fighter positions in order of seniority in the daytime position. The parties recognize that the fire-fighter coming off the daytime role will need to develop their knowledge and skills before being assigned to role of Acting Captain. The Union and the Employer agree to discuss these needs and will develop an individual training plan to address any deficiencies.

Article 10

The Daytime Fire-fighter may be called upon for overtime in a manner similar to any other Fire-fighter provided the overtime will not result in the incumbent working 30 hours in a 36-hour period unless it is an emergency situation.

Article 11.06

The Daytime Fire-fighter shall not be required to act as a Captain, however if a Daytime Fire-fighter chooses to qualify as an Acting Captain, they must maintain their skills in a similar manner to a Shift Fire-fighter.

Article 13

The Daytime Fire-fighter shall work all Statutory Holidays and will have the following options regarding payment for the time spent:

Once at the beginning of each calendar year, the Daytime Fire-fighter may choose to either be paid at the rate of 2.5 times the regular hourly rate for the time worked; or

May choose to be paid straight time for the time worked and receive additional time off with pay calculated at 1.5 times the hours worked (12 stat holidays times 1.5 equals 18 days off).

Page iv 2014 – 2021

Article 14 Only one Daytime Fire-fighter may be away on annual leave at any given time.

In Witness Whereof the parties hereto affixed their signatures by the officer designated in that behalf on the 2nd day of September, 2010 and the 4th day of February, 2014.

The parties hereto review this letter of understanding by affixing the signature of the officers designated in that behalf on the 21th day of November, 2014.

CITY OF WHITEHORSE	IAFF, LOCAL 2217	
Christine Smith	Barry Blisner,	
City Manager	President, Local 2217	

2014 – 2021 Page v

RE: Progression and Promotion

BY AND BETWEEN: THE CITY OF WHITEHORSE

AND: THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE-FIGHTERS,

LOCAL 2217

The parties agree as a result of bargaining the renewal of the 2012-2013 Collective Agreement to strike a committee to review current internal practices and policies as well as consider industry accepted standards, related to qualifications, if any, that are bona fide to provide for firefighter's progression, officer promotions and lateral transfers, as indicated in the provisions of Collective Agreement and at Schedule "A" Salary Schedules.

It is agreed the Committee will meet no less than four times annually throughout the term of this agreement and where mutual agreement is found, revise the collective agreement accordingly. On all matters where agreement is not found, either party is free, without prejudice, to bring such matters forward in future rounds of collective bargaining.

In Witness Whereof the parties hereto affixed their signatures by the officer designated in that behalf on the 24th day of November, 2014.

CITY OF WHITEHORSE	IAFF, LOCAL 2217
Christine Smith	Barry Blisner,
City Manager	President, Local 2217

Page vi 2014 – 2021

RE: Vacation Selection and Scheduling

BY AND BETWEEN: THE CITY OF WHITEHORSE

AND: THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE-FIGHTERS,

LOCAL 2217

The parties agree to meet for the purpose of reviewing vacation selection practices and policies in the fall of each year. Either party may bring forward revisions to current practice on a without prejudice basis. The practices of the current year shall remain, unless the parties find mutual agreement to make changes prior to December 1st, or at a later date if agreed by the parties.

If it is agreed by the parties, the collective agreement may be revised accordingly. On all matters where agreement is not found, either party is free, without prejudice, to bring such matters forward in future rounds of collective bargaining.

In Witness Whereof the parties hereto affixed their signatures by the officer designated in that behalf on the 24th day of November, 2014.

CITY OF WHITEHORSE IAFF, LOCAL 2217

Christine Smith Barry Blisner,
City Manager President, Local 2217

2014 – 2021 Page vii

RE: Relief Fire-fighter and/or Relief Dispatcher (New)

BY AND BETWEEN: THE CITY OF WHITEHORSE

THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF FIRE-FIGHTERS,

AND: LOCAL 2217

The provisions of this LOU may be implemented after January 1, 2015.

- a) The Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher shall not be bound by the Hours of Work provisions of the Collective Agreement, but shall be governed by the following:
- b) The Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher shall work one hundred and sixty eight (168) hours over a common twenty eight (28) day cycle.
- c) The Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher when scheduled to work shall be credited and compensated with a minimum of two (2) hours work at their regular rate of pay, if cancelled within the first hour of the shift; and four (4) hours pay if cancelled after the first hour of work from the start of the shift.
- d) The Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher required to work the schedule set out herein shall be assigned to a twenty eight day cycle by the Fire Chief and will be required to work up to a maximum of one hundred and sixty eight (168) hours within that \cycle at straight-time rates, subject to the following:
 - 1. wages, benefits and working conditions shall remain consistent with the current practices such as but not limited to eighty-four (84) hours pay at straight-time per bi-weekly pay period; and
- e) The city will assign the Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher to a shift for the purpose of providing relief for paid time off benefits of Fire-fighter and Dispatchers and, in so far as possible, their work schedule will reflect the regular hours of work of that position.
 - 1. The Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher may be required to be on duty up to a maximum of twenty-four (24) consecutive hours.
 - 2. The Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher may be utilized to a maximum of ninety-six (96) hours in a calendar week.
 - 3. The Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher shall be off duty for two (2) twenty-four (24) hour periods each calendar week that may not necessarily be back to back.
- f) The Relief Fire-fighter and Dispatcher may request one twenty-four (24) hour period in each calendar week as a prescheduled day off from being called in. The Employer will make all reasonable efforts to accommodate such requests, keeping in mind that the Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher is intended to be used for overtime aversion.

Page viii 2014 – 2021

Once a twenty-four (24) hour period has been schedule as an off duty period, it shall be deemed confirmed forty-eight (48) hours prior to the start of the scheduled time off, and shall not be retracted except by mutual agreement.

- g) Should the Employer chose to schedule a Relief Fire-fighter and Dispatcher to less than one hundred and sixty eight (168) hours over the twenty-eight day cycle, the Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher shall not owe any hours of work to the Employer and shall not suffer any loss of pay.
- h) Should the Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher work more than twenty-four (24) consecutive hours, more than ninety-six hours in a calendar week or more than one hundred and sixty eight (168) hours over the twenty-eight day cycle their rate of pay for all hours so work shall be in accordance with Article 10: Overtime. If the Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher works immediately after a scheduled day shift or night shift, when not scheduled to work the complete shift immediately following that shift, they shall be compensated in accordance with Article 10.01: Overtime.
- i) Persons hired as Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher shall be entitled to wages, benefits and working conditions afforded regular full-time permanent Fire-fighter and/or Dispatchers, consistent with the Collective Agreement, except as expressly provided herein.
- j) Where attrition occurs, the senior Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher will be placed on a regular shift after a new employee has successfully completed their training period. The new employee shall then be assigned as a Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher.
- k) If a replacement has not been hired within six (6) months of the retirement/termination of a regular permanent full-time Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher, the most senior Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher shall be placed in the vacant position.

The parties agree to continue discussing the implementation and application of the Relief Fire-fighter and/or Dispatcher position throughout the term of this agreement with a view to create effective and efficient staffing through a reduction in the use of overtime.

In Witness Whereof the parties hereto affixed their signatures by the officer designated in that behalf on the 24th day of November, 2014.

CITY OF WHITEHORSE	IAFF, LOCAL 2217
Christine Smith	Barry Blisner,
City Manager	President, Local 2217

2014 – 2021 Page ix